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1. General Information

REGISTERED NAME Mpumalanga Gambling Board

REGISTRATION NUMBER N/A

PHYSICAL ADDRESS Mpumalanga Gambling Board Building,
First Avenue, 
White River,
Mpumalanga Province,
South Africa.

POSTAL ADDRESS Private Bag X9908, 
White River, 
Mpumalanga Province, 
South Africa, 
1240.

TELEPHONE NUMBER + 27 (0) 13 750 8000

FAX NUMBER + 27 (0) 13 750 8099

EMAIL ADDRESS ceo@mgb.org.za

WEBSITE ADDRESS www.mgb.org.za

EXTERNAL AUDITORS Auditor-General 

BANKERS First National Bank 

COMPANY/BOARD SECRETARY The MGB does not fall under the Companies Act, but the Legal Services 
Department fulfils the role of Board Secretariat.
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2. List of Abbreviations/Acronyms

ACT Mpumalanga Gambling Act

AFS Annual Financial Statements

AG Auditor-General 

APP Annual Performance Plans

B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CONT. Continued

DEDT Department of Economic Development and Tourism

DFEDT Department of Finance, Economic Development and Tourism

EAP Employee Assistance Programme

FY Financial Year

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practices

HR Human Resources

IAGR International Association of Gaming Regulators

ICPs Internal Control Procedures

IT Information Technology

LPMs Limited Payout Machines

MEC Member of Executive Council

MGB Mpumalanga Gambling Board

MSP Master Systems Plan

MTEF Medium-Term Expenditure Framework

N/A Not applicable

NRGP National Responsible Gambling Programme

PAIA Promotion of Access to Information Act

P&E Property and Equipment

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PR Public Relations

RFA Request for Applications

RFP Request for Proposals

SAPS South African Police Services

SCM Supply Chain Management

the dti Department of Trade and Industry

UNISA University of South Africa
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I t gives me great pleasure to present, on 
behalf of the Board, the Annual Report 
of the Mpumalanga Gambling Board 
(MGB) for the year ended 31 March 

2016, which focuses on how the material matters in respect 
of the corporate strategy, governance and performance led 
to the creation of value for our shareholders and other key 
stakeholders.

This year was very special for the Board, as it marks the 20th 
anniversary of the MGB’s existence and we are extremely 
grateful for this milestone and the rich legacy left behind by the 
previous Boards. We also appreciate the recognition bestowed 
upon us during this special year by the international gambling 
fraternity in the election of our CEO, Mr. Bheki Mlambo, 
as the President of the International Association of Gaming 
Regulators. This has consequently placed Mpumalanga – 
the Place of the Rising Sun, South Africa and the African  
continent in the limelight of world-class gambling regulation. 

This is also the first year of the current Board’s term. 
We are honoured to serve this entity and the people of 
Mpumalanga. During the same year, the Board developed 
a strategic plan with the express purpose of setting its 
strategic direction and activities over the next five years.  
The strategic plan is structured to ensure that the Board 
continues to deliver on its mandate and maintain its 
mission to control and regulate the gambling industry in 
the Mpumalanga Province.  

Strategic Overview and Performance

During the year under review, the Board achieved the 
majority of its strategic targets, and the highlights are as 
follows:

• The Board continued to regulate the gambling 
industry in the province exceptionally well, through 
strict regulation of gambling establishments, persons, 
third parties, fairness of games and practices.  This 
has continued to ensure public confidence and trust 
in lawful gambling in the Province.  In the process, 
the Board managed to collect just over R90 million in 
gambling taxes, which is a significant contribution to 
the Province’s own revenue base.

• In keeping with the objective of promoting responsible 
gambling in the Province, the Board continued to 
roll out responsible gambling awareness campaigns 
to ensure that local communities are sufficiently 
educated about the risks of irresponsible gambling, 
and uncontrollable gambling habits, mainly focusing 
on the vulnerable members of the society.  

• The Board further maintained its record of unqualified 
and clean audit reports from the Auditor-General.  
This is indeed an appropriate indication of the MGB’s 
commitment to sound corporate governance and 
financial discipline, since inception, two decades ago.

3. Foreword by the

3. Foreword by 
the Chairperson
PNZ Fakude-Nkuna
Chairperson of the Board
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3. Foreword by 
the Chairperson

Strategic Relationships 

The Board’s stakeholder management principles support 
its strategic objectives by interpreting and influencing 
both external and internal environments, and by creating 
positive relationships with stakeholders through the 
appropriate management of their expectations and agreed 
objectives. 

In maintaining its strategic partnerships with stakeholders 
and industry role-players, the Board participated in 
fruitful engagements with the Provincial Executive, 
the Responsible Member, the Provincial Treasury, the 
Provincial Standing Committee on Public Accounts, 
the Portfolio Committee, the National Gambling Policy 
Council, the National Responsible Gambling Programme 
and all the licensed operators in the Province.  

The Board also serves on the National Gambling Regulators 
Forum and the National CEO Forum. The Board is also a 
voting member of the International Association of Gaming 
Regulators and subscribes to the Gambling Regulators 
Africa Forum.  These affiliations and memberships assisted 
the Board in understanding the industry and ensuring that 
its processes and procedures for regulating the industry 
meet the international and national best practices. 

Challenges

The rate of technological advancement in the industry 
continues to pose a challenge to regulators across the 
globe, with remote gambling now growing in the way 
long predicted, and some convergence between social and 
commercial gambling.  We will continue to build expertise 
and devote more resources to this area, so that we can 
regulate effectively and provide advice to Government on 
the implications of technological change and innovation. 

Furthermore, we continue to be plagued by challenges 
resulting from the illegal gambling market, primarily online 
gambling, which is illegal in terms of national legislation.  
We will continue to foster closer working relations with 
other law enforcement agencies to curb this challenge.

The Year Ahead

Going forward, the Board will continue to effectively 
regulate the gambling industry, ensuring that the industry 
is free from criminal elements or exploitation, whilst also 
ensuring that vulnerable members of our communities are 
shielded from the harm associated with the industry. 

In terms of the revised strategy, the Board has planned to 
license eight Bingo centres in the Province, which will 
unlock economic growth and development through the 
creation of tourism infrastructure, generation of additional 
fiscal revenue and the creation of employment opportunities.

“This year was very special for the Board, as it marks the 20th 
anniversary of the MGB’s existence and we are extremely grateful for 
this milestone and the rich legacy left behind by the previous Boards.”
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With regard to the fourth casino licence, the Board will await 
the court process to unfold before considering the next move. 

The Board will further complete the feasibility study to 
investigate the possibility of establishing a horse racing track 
in Mpumalanga. In the event of a positive outcome from 
the study, the envisaged race track will contribute towards 
tourism stimulation, unlocking job creation and additional 
revenue for the Province.

The Board will continue to support and promote responsible 
gambling and ensure that the unintended consequences of 
gambling are prevented. 

Acknowledgements / Appreciation 

I wish to take this opportunity to acknowledge the MEC 
for Finance, Economic Development and Tourism, 
Honourable SE Kholwane, and his department for his 
guidance and unwavering support, the Provincial Treasury 
for their support, the Portfolio Committee for their 

oversight and guidance, my fellow Board Members for 
their support and the professional manner in which they 
have conducted the affairs of the Board and finally, the 
CEO, Management and staff of the Board for the diligent 
execution of their duties and immense contributions to the 
successes achieved by the MGB. 

I also wish to express my profound gratitude to the 
Provincial Executive, under the visionary and capable 
leadership of the Honourable Premier DD Mabuza, for 
continuing to create a conducive environment within 
which we operate.

PNZ Fakude-Nkuna 
Chairperson of the Board
Date: 29 July 2016

“ The Board will continue to support and promote responsible 
gambling and ensure that the unintended consequences of gambling are 

prevented.”
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  4.Chief
Executive
Officer’s 
Overview
B Mlambo
Chief Executive Officer 

T he MGB is a statutory body 
with the legislated mandate 
of regulating gambling in 
the Mpumalanga Province.  

Taking cue from this mandate, the Board developed and 
implemented a corporate strategy, geared to ensure that 
the Board delivers on the said mandate. 

In keeping with the objective of regulating gambling, 
which is primarily to ensure a positive balance between 
the benefits and social costs created by the industry, 
the Board targeted its resources towards meeting the 
regulatory challenges of this industry, while at the same 
time holding the industry to account for the responsible 
conduct of gambling.   The Board further ensured that a 
risk management strategy is reviewed to mitigate any risks 
that may affect the realisation of the corporate strategy. 

Key achievements and strategies 

Overall, the industry performed exceptionally well, 
despite the unfortunate global economic conditions that 
still prevail since the 2008 world economic melt-down. On 
gambling revenue, the collection grew by 6% amounting 
to R90 million, when compared to R84,8 million collected 
in the previous financial year.  While this growth in 
revenue is appreciated, it is worth noting that the Board has 
always followed a philosophy of expanding the industry 
organically, taking into account the risk of proliferation of 
gambling before issuing of licences.

A total of  35 gambling licences were issued during the 
year under review, in line with the Board’s philosophy to 
allow the market to dictate demand, while being mindful 
not to stimulate latent demand.  

In terms of employment, the industry created 141 
permanent employment opportunities during the year.

The Board has completed a research study to measure the 
socio-economic impact of gambling in the Province and to 
create a basis for trend analysis to determine longitudinal 
tendencies and impact assessment with the opening of new 
gambling opportunities.  

Problem gambling levels remained considerably low, 
despite the significant growth in the size of the gambling 
market, signifying the success of the MGB’s strategy 
of harm minimisation through responsible gambling 
awareness drives.  There have been much more public 
participation campaigns during this period, ensuring public 
understanding of the dangers of irresponsible gambling 
and how to avoid them. 

We have sustained the partnership with the Miss 
Mpumalanga brand, which continued to give us an 
ideal platform to strengthen and maximise reach for our 
responsible gambling awareness to our communities, 
through the voice and face of Miss Mpumalanga as an 
official Ambassador. 

The MGB also takes pride in the sustained record of clean 
audit outcome, a record that has been maintained since the 
MGB’s inception, 20 years ago.
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General Financial Review of the MGB

The summarised results of the MGB’s operations for the 
year ended 31 March 2016 are as follows:

Details
2016

R
2015

R

Revenue 52 205 000 54 549 334
Surplus for the year 1 283 552 1 790 751

Total assets 52 908 261 52 999 430
Total liabilities 25 793 367 27 168 088

Spending Trends of the MGB

The MGB funds its operations out of a fixed budget 
allocation. It was therefore important for Management to 
control the spending, as always, by implementing controls 
which were consistently monitored and adhered to. The 
operating expenditure budget was on target whilst the 
overall gambling revenue collection reflected a total of 
R90 million compared to the R88 million budgeted, which 
was 2% or R2 million above budget. There was no fruitless 
or wasteful expenditure recorded during the period under 
review.

Capacity Constraints and Challenges Facing the 
MGB

No capacity constraints or challenges were faced by the 
MGB which could have hindered the organisation from 
achieving the set goals.

Activities to be Discontinued

There were no activities that were discontinued during the 
year.

New or Proposed Activities

There are no new or proposed activities.

Request for Rollover of Funds

Deferred revenue is made up of funds approved to be 
utilised for the building expansion project. A number of 
administrative approvals, as legislated, were pending; 
hence the delay of the project.  The funds will be utilised 
during the implementation of the capital building project 
once all necessary approvals have been obtained.

Supply Chain Management

Pursuant to the treasury guidelines, the MGB adopted 
an integrated approach to deal with the Supply Chain 
Management Framework (SCM) by centralising a separate 
unit in the organisation. This was done in order to comply 
with the provisions of the Constitution, that procurement 
practices must be fair, equitable, transparent, competitive 
and cost-effective. There were no deviations to the SCM 
processes as prescribed during the period under review.

All Concluded Unsolicited Bid Proposals for the 
Year under Review

There were no unsolicited bid proposals during the period 
under review. 

SCM Processes and Systems are in Place

SCM processes and systems are in place. Supply chain 
activities are conducted in line with the MGB’s internal 
control procedures, SCM Framework and the Treasury 
Regulations issued in terms of the PFMA.

“ The MGB also takes pride in the sustained record of 
clean audit outcome, a record that has been maintained since the 

MGB’s inception, 20 years ago.”
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Challenges Experienced and How Resolved

No challenges were encountered during the period under 
review. 

Audit Report Matters in the Previous Year 

No audit report matters were reported in the previous 
financial year.

Outlook/Plans for the Future to Address 
Financial Challenges

The MGB is looking forward to continued support and 
funding from the Department of Economic Development 
and Tourism in order to fulfil its mandate as prescribed. 
Furthermore, no challenges are envisaged in the next 
financial year.

Events after the Reporting Date

There were no events subsequent to the date of the financial 
statements for which the financial reporting framework 
required adjustment or disclosure.

Economic Viability

The MGB acknowledges and appreciates the 
continued support from DEDT. This includes a grant of  
R52 205 000 which was utilised for the intended purpose, 
as per the approved annual performance plan of the MGB.

Highlight of future plans 

While the effective regulation of the industry will 
continue to receive priority, key activities in the year 
ahead includes:

• Licensing of additional Bingo centres throughout the 
Province;

• Commissioning of a feasibility study to establish 
whether a horseracing track can be viable in the 
Province;

• Sustaining the roll out of responsible gambling and 
prohibited gambling awareness campaigns; and 

• Monitoring the court processes in respect of the 
granting of the fourth casino licence in the Province.  

Acknowledgement/s or Appreciation

I would like to thank our wide groupings of stakeholders 
for the many ways in which they contributed to and 
supported our achievements during the past year.

I further wish to thank my colleagues in Executive 
Management and the entire MGB personnel for 
demonstrating continued belief in the Board’s strategy 
by showing commitment and pride in their work and 
embracing the values and ethics of our organisation. 

B Mlambo
Chief Executive Officer 
Date: 29 July 2016
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5. Statement of Responsibility

The MGB is responsible for monitoring the preparation, 
as well as the integrity and reliability of the performance 
information, AFS and related information included in this 
Annual Report. In order for the Accounting Authority 
to discharge these responsibilities, as well as those 
bestowed on it in terms of the PFMA and other applicable 
legislation, Management has developed and maintained 
a system of internal control to ensure sound financial 
management and SCM systems and business processes.

The internal controls include a risk-based system of 
internal accounting and administrative controls, designed 
to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance that 
assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed 
and recorded in accordance with generally accepted 
business practices and the entity’s policies and procedures. 
Monitoring of these controls includes a regular review 
of their operation by the Accounting Authority and 
independent oversight by the Audit and Risk Committee.

As part of the system of internal control, the outsourced 
Internal Audit function conducts operational financial 
reviews and specific audits as requested by Management 
and the Board. The AG is responsible for reporting on 
the AFS.

The AFS are prepared in accordance with the prescribed 
Standards of GRAP. They are based on appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgment and estimates.

The MGB believes that the performance information 
fairly reflects the actual achievement against planned 
objectives, indicators and targets, as per the approved 
strategic plan and APP for the year ended 31 March 2016. 
The performance information has been examined by the 
external auditors and their report is presented on page 58.

The Accounting Authority believes that the MGB will 
be a going-concern in the year ahead based on the 
annual Government grant received. For this reason the 
Accounting Authority continues to adopt the going-
concern basis in preparing the AFS.

The Accounting Authority approved the performance 
information for the year ended 31 March 2016 as set out 
on pages 20 to 34, as well as the AFS as set out on pages 
60 to 84, on 19 May 2016 which were signed on its behalf 
by:

Statement of Responsibility and Confirmation of the Accuracy of the Annual Report

PNZ Fakude-Nkuna 
Chairperson of the Board
Date: 27 May 2016

B Mlambo
Chief Executive Officer 
Date: 27 May 2016



Mpumalanga Gambling Board                             Annual Report 2015/201612

6. Strategic Overview

6.1  Vision

To be at the forefront of effective regulation of the 
gambling industry.

6.2  Mission

To ensure the integrity of gambling through efficient 
regulation within the Mpumalanga Province of South Africa.

6.3  Values

Integrity is pivotal to the business activities of the MGB. 
Therefore staff and Board Members constantly strive 
to conduct themselves with the utmost integrity in their 
internal and external business relationships. 

Excellence is central to our regulation of gambling in 
the Province. Our internal stakeholders strive to “live” 
the vision and mission of the MGB by ensuring that we 
achieve the highest level of excellence and remain one of 
the world’s leading gambling regulators.

Co-operation, reliability and responsiveness of the 
MGB underpin the historical successes of the MGB. The 
organisational culture of the MGB promotes dedication, 
commitment, responsibility and accountability to all our 
stakeholders.

Initiating and embracing change is fundamental to the 
business continuity of the MGB. The MGB constantly 
strives to encourage, nurture and support the creativity 
and innovation of its stakeholders, thereby promoting a 
culture of continuous improvement in all business and 
regulatory processes.

Respect for the individual and community within which 
we conduct our business is of fundamental importance 
for maintaining the trust and confidence of all our 
stakeholders, thereby providing them with the assurance 
of efficient and effective gambling regulation.
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7. Legislative and other Mandates

Constitutional Mandate

The MGB is a Schedule 3C Public Entity responsible for 
gambling regulation in the Province.

Legislative Mandate

This section sets out the specific constitutional and 
other legislative, functional and policy mandates that 
inform what the MGB does and how these functions are 
implemented:

• The Constitution of the Republic of  South Africa;
• The National Gambling Act;
• The National Gambling Regulations;
• The National Gambling Regulations on Limited 

Payout Machines;
• The Mpumalanga Gambling Act, Rules and 

Regulations;
• The Mpumalanga Gambling Levies Act and 

Regulations; and
• The Public Finance Management Act and Treasury 

Regulations.

The MGB has been charged with the responsibility 
to perform all functions assigned to it in terms of the 
Mpumalanga Gambling Act, 1995 (Act No. 5 of 1995), 
as amended (the Act) or any other legislation by advising, 
reporting or making recommendations to the Responsible 
Member on any matter relating to the regulation of 
gambling in the Mpumalanga Province. 

The MGB in compliance with the Public Finance 
Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended 
(PFMA), in particular the provisions as contained in 
sections 50 and 51 thereof, is committed to the principles 
of openness, integrity and accountability.  Furthermore, 
the MGB adheres to the principles of good governance, 
as reflected in the King Report on Governance for South 
Africa, 2009 (King III Report).  

Objectives

• To perform the functions assigned to it in terms of 
the Act, including:

- Ensuring the suitability of all persons wishing 
to participate in the gambling industry within 
Mpumalanga; and 

- Ensuring that gambling activities regulated by 
the MGB are conducted fairly, honestly and free 
of criminal influence and exploitation;

• To ensure that the regulation of gambling is effective 
and efficient;

• To render support and advice to the Responsible 
Member on gambling issues and ensure that the 
Government’s policy on gambling is implemented;

• To co-operate with the National Gambling Board 
(NGB) and other stakeholders on matters of mutual 
interest;

• To conduct research, with a view to advise 
Government on the socio-economic impact of 
gambling within the Province;

• To perform the functions of the MGB in accordance 
with acceptable corporate governance practices;

• To promote responsible gambling in the Mpumalanga 
Province;

• To provide for the imposition and payment of 
gambling levies; and

• To provide for matters incidental thereto. 
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BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Bheki Mlambo

DEPARTMENTAL MANAGER
INVESTIGATIONS & LICENSING

André Otto

DEPARTMENTAL MANAGER
GAMBLING CONTROL

Vusi Mtsweni

DEPARTMENTAL MANAGER
GAMBLING AUDIT

Carla Bastos

DEPARTMENTAL MANAGER
LEGAL SERVICES

Marina Bezuidenhout

CHIEF FNANCIAL OFFICER
CORPORATE SERVICES

Lucas Maseko

DEPARTMENTAL MANAGER
COMMUNICATIONS

Cedrick Chiloane

DEPARTMENTAL MANAGER
TRANSFORMATION & SUSTAINABILITY

Vacant

8. Organisational Structure
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PART B
PERFORMANCE 

INFORMATION
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1. Auditor-Gseneral Report:
 Predetermined Objectives

Refer to page 58 of the Report of the Auditor-General to the Mpumalanga Provincial Legislature on the AFS for the 
2015/2016 FY.
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2. Situational Analysis

2.1  Service Delivery Environment

As at 31 March 2016, the MGB regulated the licensees 
and gambling equipment as reflected on page 32, 
Statistical Information.

The Board, being mindful that economic potential needs 
to be stimulated in all districts, ensures that gambling is 
not confined to only certain locations in the Province. 
The Board has various measures in place to deal with 
the spread of gambling opportunities throughout the 
Province, as well as controlling proliferation and latent 
demand for gambling.

The gambling industry, like most modern businesses, 
employs sophisticated technologies as it is rapidly thrusting 
into the information super-highway.  This has resulted in 
staff at the Board being required to be kept abreast of the 
latest developments in the industry which include training, 
attendance of workshops and conferences.  

The industry is also challenged by the persistent pockets 
of illegal gambling activities, especially online gambling. 
The Board had, during the year continued to place a 
high premium on clamping down on all forms of illegal 
gambling activities in the Province. To maintain the 
credibility of the industry in the Province, the Board 
responded to all allegations of illegal gambling with the 
assistance of the SAPS.  

It is also the Board’s responsibility to ensure that legalised 
gambling does not produce unintended consequences 
related to social and economic problems.  Promotion of 
responsible gambling requires the Board to spend resources 
on awareness campaigns and to develop and implement 
other suitable intervention programmes.  The Board during 
the year under review, employed a multifaceted mix of 
integrated marketing and communication campaigns to 
promote responsible gambling throughout the Province.  
The Board had also commissioned a research on the socio-
economic impact of gambling in the Province, the findings 
of which, continues to be considered and reflected in the 
overall plans of the entity.

In terms of the Board’s overall performance relating to 
the strategic outcome-oriented goals, the Board achieved 

all its strategic targets for the year, with the exception of 
the granting of the fourth casino licence which is subject 
to a litigation process, and the feasibility study for a 
racecourse, which is postponed due to delays encountered 
on the fourth casino and Bingo licence processes.  In 
respect of Bingo operations, the Board had published a 
Request for Proposals for eight additional Bingo centres, 
and the subsequent granting of the licences is expected in 
the 2016/17 financial year.

With regard to the effective regulation strategic goal, 
the gambling industry in the Province is well regulated.  
The Board continued to operationalise the gambling 
policy which seeks to ensure public confidence and 
trust in gambling, through strict regulation of gambling 
establishments, persons, third parties, fairness of games 
and practices.  The Board further ensured that industry risk 
areas are identified and control systems are enhanced to 
balance the benefits and costs of gambling in the Province.  

The Board is committed to good corporate governance 
and accountability through the implementation of 
effective and best management practices.  These have 
enabled the Board to carry out its constitutional mandate 
in line with good corporate values and principles, and that 
it maintains the confidence and trust of South Africans 
and all its stakeholders at every level.

2.2  Organisational Environment

The operating environment of the entity is generally 
stable, owing to the strict adherence and continued 
improvement of internal controls.  

In terms of the workforce, the approved staff structure 
of the MGB is comprised of 58 employees.  On 31 
March 2016, the total staff compliment comprised of 50 
employees with eight vacancies which were not filled due 
to a moratorium to freeze vacant positions.   It should be 
noted that the Board, through rationalisation of staff has 
still managed to honour its mandate and commitments for 
the year.  The Board will continue to assess the need to fill 
key positions going forward.
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The current information management systems of 
the Board are partly manual and increasingly posing 
limitations for strategic information management.  The 
Board is considering options and the funding requirements 
thereof, for the development of integrated information 
systems to enhance effective decision making, inter/intra 
organisational collaboration and service improvement. 

2.3  Key Policy Developments and Legislative 
Changes

With the new B-BBEE Codes that came into effect on 
01 May 2015, the Board considered and evaluated the 
impact of the new Codes on new applications for licences 
and current licence holders’ licence conditions. The 
Board came up with proposals, which are currently being 
considered by legal counsel.   

The Board had, during the year considered the draft 
National Gambling Policy by the dti and submitted its 
inputs thereto.

The Board approved amendments to its Gambling Rules, 
which had been published in the Provincial Gazette 
during the period under review. These amendments 
were essentially to amend the rules to be in line with 
operational requirements of the Board. 

The Board reviewed the Mpumalanga Gambling 
legislation and submitted the proposed amendments to the 
Mpumalanga Gambling Act, as well as the Mpumalanga 
Gambling Levies Regulations to the Responsible 
Member.  These amendments are still under consideration 
by the Responsible Member.

2.4  Strategic Outcome-Oriented Goals

The following are the strategic oriented goals approved 
by the Board for the Medium-Term Strategic Framework 
2015 – 2019:

Strategic Goal 1 Industry expansion
Goal Statement Grow the gambling industry in 

the Province responsibly
• Fourth casino licence
• Bingo
• Feasibility study for a 

racecourse

Strategic Goal 2 Effective regulation
Goal Statement Effective and efficient regulation 

of the gambling industry in the 
Province
• Governance
• Public awareness
• Operations 
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3. Performance 
Information by 
Programme
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Purpose

1. To ensure that the MGB operates in accordance with national and international gambling policies and standards.
2. To ensure effective and efficient administration and management of the organisation.

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

To ensure that the 
MGB operates 
in accordance 
with National 
and International 
Gambling Policies 
and Standards.

Number of industry 
development 
reports.

Two industry 
development 
reports.

Two industry 
development 
reports.

Two industry 
development 
reports.

None. N/A.

To ensure effective 
and efficient 
administration and 
management of the 
organisation.

Approved strategy 
in line with 
legislation.

2015/16 
Organisational 
strategy submitted.

2016/17 
Organisational 
strategy.

2016/17 
Organisational 
strategy approved.

None. N/A.

Number of approved 
quarterly reports and 
Annual Report.

Four quarterly 
performance reports 
and one Annual 
Report submitted.

Four quarterly 
performance reports 
and one Annual 
Report.

Four quarterly 
performance reports 
and one Annual 
Report approved.

None. N/A.

EXECUTIVE 
OFFICE

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation 2 572 494 2 572 494 - 2 164 224 2 164 224 -

Goods and services  165 755  162 586  3 169 245 755 288 221 (42 466)

Total 2 738 249 2 735 080  3 169 2 409 979 2 452 445 (42 466)

3.1 Programme 1

Executive Office
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3.2 Programme 2

Investigations and Licensing

Purpose

To investigate the suitability of applicants that wish to participate in the gambling industry through licences (gambling 
operators), financial interest in licences (shareholders), certificates of suitability (third party service providers) and certificates 
of approval (employees), as well as to monitor the continued suitability of holders of such licences and certificates.

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

To investigate 
or review the 
suitability or 
continued suitability 
of applicants or 
licensees.

Number of 
the following 
applications 
investigated:
• New licences;
• Certificates of 

suitability;
• Consents for 

procurement of 
interest;

• Transfers of 
licences;

• Removals of 
licences; and

• Amendments to 
licences.

130 Investigations 
comprised of the 
following:
• 42 Applications 

for licences, 
consent for 
procurement 
of interest in 
licences, removal 
and transfer of 
licences;

• 75 Applications 
for key employee 
certificates of 
approval; and

• 13 Continued 
suitability re-
investigations 
on holders of 
licences and 
certificates.

Granting of the 
application for 
the fourth casino 
(subject to outcome 
of research).

None. No application was 
granted.

Process suspended 
due to litigation.

70 Investigations of 
applications.

73 Investigations 
of the following 
applications:
• 32 Site operator 

licences;
• Three totalisator 

licences;
• Five consents for 

procurement of 
interest in licences;

• Eight transfers of 
licences;

• 14 Removals of 
licences;

• Seven 
amendments to 
licences; and

• Four certificates of 
suitability.

Three investigations. More applications 
were received than 
planned.

Number of 
applications for 
key employee 
certificates 
of approval 
investigated.

756 Reviews 
comprised of the 
following:
• 216 Licence 

renewals;
• 438 Applications 

for other 
employee 
certificates of 
approval; and

• 102 Risk reviews 
on licence 
and certificate 
holders.

33 Key employee 
investigations.

77 Key employee 
investigations.

44 Key employee 
investigations.

More applications 
received than 
planned.

Number of re-
investigations of 
holders of licences 
and certificates.

12 Re-
investigations.

14 Re-
investigations.

Two re-
investigations.

Risk assessments 
of licensees led to 
two additional re-
investigations.

Number of licence 
renewals reviewed.

220 Licence renewal 
reviews.

214 Licence renewal 
reviews.

Six licence renewal 
reviews.

All licences were 
renewed, as per 
applications received.

Number of 
applications for other 
employee certificates 
of approval reviewed.

110 Other employee 
reviews.

442 Employee 
reviews.

332 Employee 
reviews.

More applications 
were received than 
planned.

Number of risk 
reviews relating to 
holders of licences 
and certificates.

70 Risk reviews. 88 Risk reviews. 18 Risk reviews. Structural changes at 
licensees led to more 
risk reviews than 
planned.

INVESTIGATIONS 
AND LICENSING

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation 5 223 300 5 223 300 -       4 392 843       4 392 843                    - 

Goods and services  35 689  27 035  8 654           35 689            22 065             13 624 

Total 5 258 989 5 250 335  8 654      4 428 532       4 414 908             13 624 
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3.3 Programme 3

Gambling Control

Purpose

1. To ensure regulatory compliance of all gambling operations and equipment.
2. To combat all forms of prohibited gambling.

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

To ensure regulatory 
compliance of all 
licensed gambling 
operations and 
equipment.

Number of 
compliance 
inspections.

Four compliance 
inspection reports 
focusing on:
• Casino 

inspections;
• Gambling 

equipment 
compliance 
inspections;

• Routes and sites 
inspections;

• Bingo 
inspections; and

• Betting 
inspections.

12 Casino 
inspections.

12 Casino 
inspections 
performed.

None. N/A.

Number of 
compliance 
inspections.

240 LPM 
operations  
inspections.

261 LPM operations 
inspected.

21 LPM operations 
inspected.

More inspections 
performed than 
planned due to roll-
out of new sites.

Number of 
compliance 
inspections.

86 Totalisators 
and Bookmakers 
inspections.

95 Totalisators 
and Bookmakers 
inspected.

Nine  Totalisators 
and Bookmakers 
inspected.

More inspections 
performed than 
planned due to roll-
out of new betting 
outlets.

Number of 
compliance 
inspections.

Two Bingo centres 
inspections.

Two Bingo centres 
inspected.

None. N/A.

Number of 
evaluations.

600 New gambling 
equipment 
evaluations (LOCs).

731 New gambling 
equipment 
evaluations (LOCs).

131 New gambling 
equipment evaluated 
(LOCs).

Received more 
applications than 
planned.

Number of 
evaluations.

470 Distribution 
requests.

565 Distribution 
requests.

95 Distribution 
requests.

Received more 
requests than 
planned.

Number of 
evaluations.

850 Machine moves 
and conversions.

1 061 Machine 
moves and 
conversions.

211 Machine moves 
and conversions.

Received more 
applications than 
planned.

To combat all 
forms of prohibited 
gambling.

Number of law 
enforcement 
inspections.

Four law 
enforcement 
inspection reports 
focusing on 
eradication of 
prohibited gambling 
activities.

1 200 Law 
enforcement 
inspections.

1 836 Law 
enforcement 
inspections.

636 Law 
enforcement 
inspections.

More inspections 
performed than 
planned due to 
information received 
relating to alleged 
illegal activities.

GAMBLING 
CONTROL

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation 6 022 075 6 022 075 -           4 982 349          4 982 349 -

Goods and services  557 420  582 583 ( 25 163)             616 400             635 989 (19 589)

Total 6 579 495 6 604 658 ( 25 163)          5 598 749          5 618 338 (19 589)
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3.4 Programme 4

Gambling Audit

Purpose

1. To provide assurance that gambling levies are accurately calculated and paid timeously.
2. To provide assurance that financial data from the Central Monitoring Systems (CMS) and peripheral gambling systems 

used by the licensees is reliable.

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

Provide assurance 
that complete and 
accurate gambling 
levies are paid as 
prescribed.

Number of 
verifications 
performed.

12 Verification 
reports compiled, 
verifying levies for: 
•  Casinos; 
•  Route operators;
•  Independent site 

operator;
•  Totalisator 

operator;
•  Bookmakers; and
•  Bingo operators.

240 Verifications. 240 Verifications 
performed.

None. N/A.

Number of audits 
conducted.

21 Audit reports 
compiled for audits 
performed:
•  Casinos – three 

reports;
•  Route operators 

–  three reports;
• Independent Site 

operator – one  
report;

• Totalisator 
operator –one 
report;

• Bookmakers – 11 
reports; and

• Bingo – two 
reports.

Three Casino audits. Three Casino audits 
performed.

None. N/A.

Two Route operator 
audits.

Two Route operator 
audits performed.

One Independent 
Site operator audit.

One Independent 
Site operator audit 
performed.

One Totalisator 
audit.

One Totalisator audit 
performed.

11 Bookmaker 
audits.

11 Bookmaker 
audits performed.

Two Bingo operator 
audits.

Two Bingo operator 
audits performed.

GAMBLING AUDIT

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation 6 300 347 6 285 860  14 487          5 310 619          5 310 619                         -

Goods and services  360 296  360 774 (478)             360 296             372 748               (12 452)

Total 6 660 643 6 646 634  14 009          5 670 915          5 683 367               (12 452)
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Purpose
1. To ensure effective and efficient gambling legislation.
2. To ensure that the Board and the MGB comply with corporate governance practices.

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION 
FROM PLANNED 

TARGET TO 
ACTUAL 

ACHIEVEMENT 
FOR 2015/16

COMMENT ON 
DEVIATONS

To ensure 
effective 
and efficient 
gambling 
legislation.

Number of reviews 
of Mpumalanga 
Gambling Rules.

One review report on the 
Mpumalanga Gambling 
Rules.

One review of 
Mpumalanga Gambling 
Rules annually.

One review of the 
Mpumalanga Gambling 
Rules performed.

None. N/A.

Number of reviews 
of Mpumalanga 
Gambling Acts and 
Regulations.

One review report on the 
Mpumalanga Gambling 
Acts and Regulations.

One review of 
Mpumalanga 
Gambling Acts and 
Regulations annually.

One review of the 
Mpumalanga Acts and 
Regulations performed.

None. N/A.

To ensure that 
the Board 
and the MGB 
comply with 
corporate 
governance 
practices.

Number of 
status reviews of 
compliance to laws.

Four corporate governance 
reports were compiled 
regarding the following:
• Obtained three legal 

opinions from counsel;
• Performed four  status 

reviews of  compliance 
to laws;

• Performed four status 
reviews on  litigation 
matters;

• Facilitated one  public 
hearing;

• Reviewed six  agreements;
• Facilitated and minuted 

all scheduled Board and 
Committee meetings 
and the following special 
meetings: one special 
Corporate Services 
Committee, one  special 
combined Corporate 
Services and Audit 
Committee, and one 
special Board meeting;

• Facilitated 68 ad hoc 
special tasks, assigned 
to Board and Committee 
Members; and

• Reviewed Board 
Corporate Governance 
practices.

Four status reviews of 
compliance to laws.

Performed four status 
reviews of compliance 
to laws.

None. N/A.

Number of status 
reviews of litigation 
matters.

Four status review 
reports of litigation 
matters by or against 
the MGB.

Performed four status 
reviews on litigation 
matters by or against the 
MGB.

None. N/A.

Number of Board 
and Committee 
meetings facilitated 
and minuted.

Facilitate and minute 
five Board and 14 
Committee meetings 
in accordance with 
the approved meeting 
schedule.

Facilitated and minuted 
five scheduled Board 
meetings, 13 Committee 
meetings and one Special 
Board meeting.

One Committee 
meeting; and 
one Board 
meeting.

One Committee 
meeting was 
cancelled and 
one Special 
Board meeting 
was held.

Number of reviews 
of corporate 
governance 
practices.

Four status reviews 
of Board Corporate 
Governance practices.

Performed four status 
reviews of Board corporate 
governance practices 
regarding the following:
• Facilitated two public 

hearings;
• Reviewed seven 

agreements;
• Facilitated 31 ad hoc 

special tasks assigned to 
Board and Committee 
Members; and

• Reviewed Board 
Corporate governance 
practices.

None. N/A.

LEGAL SERVICES

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation 2 264 775 2 264 775 -          1 907 293          1 907 293 -

Goods and services  48 241  51 202 ( 2 961)               48 242               34 911 13 331

Total 2 313 016 2 315 977 ( 2 961)          1 955 535          1 942 204 13 331 

BOARD

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation  677 000  570 500  106 500* 1 097 500 1 103 000 (5 500)

Goods and services  259 869  263 861 ( 3 992) 499 869 636 009 (136 140)

Total  936 869  834 361  102 508 1 597 369 1 739 009 (141 640)

* Variance caused by the appointment of six Board Members instead of 10.

3.5 Programme 5 

Legal Services
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3.6 Programme 6

Corporate Services 

Purpose

1. To ensure efficient and effective human resources and financial management.

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

To ensure efficient 
and effective 
human resources 
and financial 
management.

Effective budget 
management.

Four corporate 
services 
performance 
reports compiled, 
comprising of the 
following:
•  12 Financial 

performance 
reports;

• Compilation 
of Budget for 
2015/2016;

• Approved 
2015/2016 risk 
assessment;

•  12 Reviews of 
risk register 
2014/2015;

• Facilitated four 
internal audits 
and one external 
audit;

• Compiled and 
submitted 
approved AFS to 
AG by 31 May 
2014;

• 12 Transfers to 
Government, as 
prescribed;

• B-BBEE 
scorecard;

• One review of 
Internal Control 
Procedures; and

• One 
remuneration 
survey 
performed.

12 Financial 
performance reports.

12 Financial 
performance reports 
compiled.

None. N/A.

Number of budget 
documents compiled 
and approved.

One budget for 
2016/17 FY.

One budget for 
2016/17 FY 
approved.

None. N/A.

Number of Risk 
Assessment reports.

Four reviews of Risk 
Assessment reports.

Four reviews of Risk 
Assessment reports 
compiled.

None. N/A.

Number of Risk 
Management 
reviews of risk 
register.

10 Risk 
Management 
reviews of risk 
register.

10 Risk 
Management 
reviews of risk 
register performed.

None. N/A.

Number of internal 
audits and external 
audit facilitated.

Four internal audits 
and one external 
audit facilitated.

Four internal audits 
and one external 
audit facilitated.

None. N/A.

Timely and accurate 
AFS submitted.

Submit one set of 
AFS to AG and 
Treasury by 31 May 
2015.

One set of AFS 
submitted to AG and 
Treasury by 31 May 
2015.

None. N/A.

Number of statutory 
returns submitted.

12 Submissions 
and payments of 
statutory returns.

12 Submissions 
and payments of 
statutory returns.

None. N/A.

Compliance to 
payment of creditors 
within 30 days.

Payment of 
creditors.

Creditors were paid 
within 30 days of 
receiving valid 
invoices.

None. N/A.

Timeous payment 
of Board Members 
and employees’ 
remuneration.

Monthly payment 
of Board Members 
and employees’ 
remuneration.

Timeous monthly 
payment of 
Board Members 
and employees’ 
remuneration.

None. N/A.

Number of transfers 
of revenue made to 
Government.

12 Transfers 
of revenue to 
Government.

12 Transfers of 
revenue made to 
Government.

None. N/A.

Updated MGB 
B-BBEE scorecard.

One updated MGB 
B-BBEE scorecard.

One MGB B-BBEE 
scorecard updated.

None. N/A.

Number of Supply 
Chain Compliance 
reports.

Four Supply Chain 
Compliance reports.

Four Supply Chain 
Compliance reports 
compiled.

None. N/A.

Approved 
procurement plan.

One approved 
procurement plan.

One approved 
procurement plan.

None. N/A.

Number of Risk 
Assessment 
workshops.

One Risk 
Assessment 
workshop.

One Risk 
Assessment 
workshop facilitated.

None. N/A.

Number of updated 
fixed asset registers.

12 Updated fixed 
asset registers.

12 Updated fixed 
asset registers.

None. N/A.

Updated  Internal 
Control Procedures 
Manual.

One updated Internal 
Control Procedures 
Manual.

One updated Internal 
Control Procedures 
Manual.

None. N/A.

Informaiton
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STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

(cont.) 
To ensure efficient 
and effective 
human resources 
and financial 
management.

Staff recruitment. Staff recruitment 
within three months 
of approval to 
recruitment form.

Staff recruitment 
within three months 
of approval to 
recruitment form.

None. N/A.

Number of 
educational 
assistance provided.

10 Employees 
provided with 
educational 
assistance.

12 Employees 
provided with 
educational 
assistance.

None. N/A.

Approved training 
development plans.

One annual training 
development plan.

One approved 
annual training 
development plan.

None. N/A.

Number of 
Performance 
Management 
reports.

One Performance 
Management report.

One Performance 
Management report 
compiled.

None. N/A.

Number of annual 
salary reviews 
performed.

One annual salary 
review.

One annual salary 
review performed.

None. N/A.

Approved 
Employment Equity 
report submitted.

One Employment 
Equity report 
submitted to 
Department of 
Labour.

One approved 
Employment Equity 
report submitted 
to Department of 
Labour.

None. N/A.

Compiled Annual 
Staff Disclosure 
report.

One Annual Staff 
Disclosure report.

One Annual Staff 
Disclosure report 
compiled.

None. N/A.

Approved internship 
terms or reference.

One internship terms 
of reference.

One internship 
terms of reference 
approved.

None. N/A.

Number of 
employee wellness 
events.

Facilitate two 
employee wellness 
events.

Facilitated two 
employee wellness 
events.

None. N/A.

GAMBLING AUDIT

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation 6 066 187 5 963 958  102 229 9 552 742 9 339 811 212 931

Goods and services  14 584 125  14 712 152 (128 027) 16 280 292 16 377 187 (96 895)

Total  20 650 312  20 676 110 ( 25 798) 25 833 034 25 716 998 116 036

3.6 Programme 6: Corporate Services (cont.)
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3.7 Programme 7

Communications

Purpose

1. To ensure public awareness of the gambling industry, including responsible gambling promotion.
2. To ensure effective and efficient information management.

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

To ensure public 
awareness of the 
gambling industry.

Number of quarterly 
performance 
reports and Annual 
Report compiled 
and distributed per 
guidelines.

Four 
Communications 
reports were 
compiled, comprising 
of the following:
• Compilation and 

distribution of 
four quarterly 
performance 
reports and one 
Annual Report;

• Reviewed two 
policies, three 
Information 
Brochures (Batho 
Pele manual 
included in the 
Information 
Brochure) and one 
PAIA Manual;

• PR equipment 
were designed, 
sourced and 
replenished;

•  Drafted four 
media statements/ 
advisories;

• Facilitated and 
published 53 
adverts for brand 
promotion;

• Facilitated 
the placement 
of 25 notices 
and vacancy 
advertisements;

• Received 41 
positive media 
coverage;

• Conducted 17 
exhibitions raising 
awareness on the 
services of the 
MGB;

• Conducted 23 
Community 
Outreach 
Campaigns 
raising awareness 
on responsible 
and prohibited 
gambling; and

• Three CSR 
initiatives 
implemented.

Miss Mpumalanga 
sponsorship benefits 
were assessed and 
monitored.

Four quarterly 
performance reports 
and one Annual 
Report.

Four quarterly 
performance reports 
and one Annual 
Report compiled.

None. N/A.

Policies, manuals 
and brochures 
reviewed and 
updated.

Review of one 
policy, one PAIA 
Manual and three 
Brochures
(Information, 
Self-Exclusion and 
Illegal Gambling).

One 
Communications 
policy, one PAIA 
Manual and three 
Brochures
(Information, 
Self-Exclusion and 
Illegal Gambling) 
were reviewed.

None. N/A.

Number of 
media advisories 
and statements 
facilitated.

40 Media advisories 
or statements 
facilitated.

113 Media 
advisories and 
statements 
facilitated.

73 Media advisories 
and statements 
facilitated.

More free coverage 
received due to the 
Miss Mpumalanga 
sponsorship.

Number of 
exhibitions 
conducted.

16 Exhibitions 
conducted.

20 Exhibitions 
conducted.

Four exhibitions 
conducted.

More exhibition 
invitations received 
than planned.

Number of 
awareness 
campaigns 
conducted.

40 Responsible 
gambling awareness 
campaigns 
conducted.

41 Responsible 
gambling awareness 
campaigns 
conducted.

One responsible 
gambling awareness 
campaign 
conducted.

One more 
responsible 
gambling campaign 
conducted than 
planned.

Number of social 
responsibility 
initiatives 
implemented.

One implementation 
of identified social 
responsibility 
initiatives.

One identified 
social responsibility 
initiative 
implemented.

None. N/A.

MGB’s 20th 
Anniversary 
programme 
developed and 
implemented.

Celebration of 
the MGB’s 20th 
Anniversary.

MGB’s 20th 
Anniversary 
celebrated through 
media and corporate 
image redesign in 
terms of the plan

None. N/A.

Miss Mpumalanga 
event facilitated per 
plan.

Management of the 
Miss Mpumalanga 
sponsorship.

Management of the 
Miss Mpumalanga 
sponsorship in terms 
of the event plan.

None. N/A.
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STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

To ensure effective 
and efficient 
information 
management.

Number of Records 
Management 
compliance 
assessment reports.

One MSP review 
report compiled.

Four IT management 
reports compiled,  
comprising of:
•  Monitoring 

of the MSP 
implementation;

• Quarterly 
assessment of IT 
Governance and 
controls;

• Review of IT 
and Records 
Management 
policies;

• Facilitation 
of technology 
refresh plans;

• Maintained 
centralised 
registry 
functions; and

• Quarterly 
assessment of 
records storage 
areas.

Four quarterly 
Records 
Management 
compliance 
assessments.

Four quarterly 
Records 
Management 
compliance 
assessments 
performed.

None. N/A.

Updated MSP 
report.

Updated MSP for 
2016/17 FY.

Updated MSP for 
2016/17 FY.

None. N/A.

Number of MSP 
implementation 
reports.

Four MSP 
implementation 
reports.

Four MSP 
implementation 
reports compiled.

None. N/A.

Number of IT 
Governance 
assessments 
conducted.

Four quarterly 
IT Governance 
assessments.

Four quarterly 
IT Governance 
assessments 
conducted.

None. N/A.

Policies reviewed 
and updated.

Review one IT 
and one Records 
Management policy.

One IT policy 
and one Records 
Management policy 
reviewed.

None. N/A.

Number of 
application 
and network 
performance 
monitoring reports.

Four application 
and network 
performance 
monitoring reports.

Four application 
and network 
performance 
monitoring reports 
compiled.

None. N/A.

Percentage IT 
helpdesk calls 
resolved.

Provision of IT 
helpdesk services.

IT helpdesk services 
provided and 95% 
of helpdesk calls 
resolved.

None. N/A.

COMMUNICATIONS

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation 5 180 614 5 180 614 -   4 456 782 4 456 782 -

Goods and services  115 688  122 761 ( 7 073)  213 237 200 739 12 498

Total 5 296 302 5 303 375 ( 7 073)  4 670 019  4 657 521 12 498 

3.7 Programme 7: Communications (cont.)
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3.8 Programme 8

Transformation and Sustainability

Purpose

1. To ensure growth and transformation of the industry responsibly.
2. To facilitate market research and industry studies.
3. To ensure effective strategic planning.

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

2014/15

PLANNED TARGET 

(2015/16)

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT

(2015/16)

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 

TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 

FOR 2015/16
COMMENT ON 

DEVIATONS

To ensure growth 
and transformation 
of the Industry 
responsibly.

Number of 
Gambling Industry 
analysis reports.

Four Industry
analysis
reports compiled.

Four Industry 
analysis reports 
comprising of:
• Casino Industry;
• Bingo operations;
• LPM operations;
• Betting Industry;
• Online gambling
• Levies; and
• New forms of 

gambling.

Four Industry 
analysis reports 
compiled.

None. N/A.

To facilitate market 
research and 
Industry studies.

Research studies 
facilitated.

None. One feasibility study 
for a racecourse.

None. The feasibility study 
for the racecourse 
deferred to 2016/17 
FY.

This matter was 
deferred due to 
delays experienced 
in the roll-out of 
the  fourth Casino 
and Bingo centres’ 
licences.

To ensure effective 
strategic planning.

Timely and 
compliant 
organisational 
strategy submitted.

None. 2016/17 
Organisational 
strategy.

2016/17 
Organisational 
strategy submitted.

None. N/A.

TRANSFORMATION 
AND 

SUSTAINABILITY

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Compensation 1 242 995 1 242 995 - 1 061 719 953 931 107 788

Goods and services  34 150  35 504 ( 1 354) 34 150 28 079 6 071

Total 1 277 145 1 278 499 ( 1 354) 1 095 869 982 010  113 859 
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4. Summary of Financial Information

The overall revenue performance reflected a total of R90,072 million compared to the R88,076 million budget for the 
year, which was 2% or R1,996 million above budget. The levies collected indicated a variance of 2% above budget, 
and the licence and application fees are also 12% above target for the year ended 31 March 2016. It is worth noting 
that levies, as well as licence and application fees are driven by the market. Penalties collected amounted to R237 241 
and result from non-compliance to relevant gambling legislation.

4.1  Revenue Collection

SOURCES OF 
REVENUE

2015/2016 2014/2015

ESTIMATED 
AMOUNT

R

ACTUAL AMOUNT 
COLLECTED

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
COLLECTION

R

ESTIMATED 
AMOUNT

R

ACTUAL AMOUNT 
COLLECTED

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
COLLECTION

R

Gambling levies 86 006 001 87 517 724 (1 511 723) 77 971 809 82 688 857 (4 717 048) 

Application and 
Licence fees 2 070 000 2 316 850 (246 850) 1 970 500       2 055 050  (84 550) 

Penalties  -  237 241  (237 241) -  96 593 (96 593) 

Total 88 076 001 90 071 815 (1 995 814) 79 942 309 84 840 500 (4 898 191)

4.2  Capital Investment 

INFRASTRUCTURE 
PROJECTS

2015/2016 2014/2015

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
EXPENDITURE

R

(OVER)/UNDER 
EXPENDITURE

R

Capital expenses  493 980  560 807 (66 827) 1 240 000 1 393 219 (153 219)

Total  493 980  560 807 (66 827) 1 240 000 1 393 219 (153 219)
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5. Statistical Information

List of Licensees

LICENCE HOLDER LICENCE TYPE NUMBER OF SITE OPERATORS OR 
OUTLETS

BETSA CC Bookmaker 6

BettaGaming Mpumalanga (Pty) Ltd Bookmaker 7

BettaGaming US (Pty) Ltd Bookmaker 3

Betting World (Pty) Ltd Bookmaker 5

Fortwood Sports Betting CC Bookmaker 2

Galaxy Gaming and Entertainment Lydenburg (Pty) Ltd Independent Site Operator 1

Grand Gaming Mpumalanga (Pty) Ltd Route Operator 42

Hollywood Sportsbook Mpumalanga (Pty) Ltd Bookmaker 9

Keith Ho Racing (Pty) Ltd Bookmaker 1

Konami Australia Pty Ltd Manufacturer of Gambling Machines 0

LOTTOSTAR (PTY) LTD Bookmaker 1

Peermont Global (Southern Highveld) (Pty) Ltd Casino 1

Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Ltd Totalisator Operator 15

Playbet (Pty) Ltd Bookmaker 1

Portapa 2 (Pty) Ltd Bookmaker 1

Powerbet Gaming (Pty) Ltd Totalisator Operator 1

Standerton Tattersalls Bookmaker 1

Tsogo Sun Casinos (Pty) Ltd Casino 2

Viva Bingo (Middelburg) (Pty) Ltd Bingo Operator 2

Vukani Gaming Mpumalanga (Pty) Ltd Route Operator 118

Certificates of Approval and Suitability

INDUSTRY SECTOR
CERTIFICATES OF APPROVAL 

(LICENSED EMPLOYMENT)

CERTIFICATES OF SUITABILITY 

(THIRD PARTIES)

Casinos 630 13

Limited Payout Machines 115 6

Betting 630 3

Bingo 88 0

Manufacturer, Maintenance and Suppliers 6 0

Total 1469 22

Registered Gambling Tables

BLACKJACK POKER AMERICAN ROULETTE TOTAL

Total 18 10 26 54
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Registered Gambling Machines

Industry Segment
A

G
I

A
R

IS
TO

C
R

AT

A
R

U
Z

E

AT
O

M
IC

B
A

L
LY

IG
T

O
M

E
G

A

E
G

T

W
M

S

TA
B

G
PI

M
E

R
K

U
R

SI
M

PL
IC

IT
-E

TO
TA

L

Casinos 79 347 289 49 86 161 28 10 105 0 0 0 31 1185

LPMs 109 405 0 16 0 160 0 0 0 124 0 27 0 841

Bingo - EBTs 0 0 0 0 0 118 0 0 52 0 0 0 0 170

Total Machines 188 752 289 65 86 439 28 10 157 124 0 27 31 2196

Approved Gambling Equipment

A
G

I

A
R

IS
TO

C
R

AT
O

N
IC

A
R

U
Z

E

AT
O

M
IC

B
A

L
LY

IG
T

O
M

E
G

A

W
M

S

V
U

K
A

N
I

O
T

H
E

R

TO
TA

L

Total Equipment 870 1244 1738 750 1081 1382 204 529 26 402 8226

Prohibited Gambling

DESCRIPTION 2015/2016 2014/2015 2013/2014

Establishments closed 46 24 23

Devices confiscated 57 28 27
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Casinos: 61%
Betting:19%

LPM: 15%

Bingo: 5%
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Actual Levies Collected Compared to Prior Year

SECTOR
Levies 2015/2016

R
Levies 2014/2015

R
% Variance

Casinos 52 900 066 54 929 152 -3.69%

LPMs 13 307 020 12 305 406 8.14%

Betting 16 592 014 11 034 099 50.37%

Bingo 4 718 624 4 420 200 6.75%

Total 87 517 724 82 688 857 5.84%

Figure 1: Ratio of Levies per Gambling Industry Segment
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• Regularly reviewing and evaluating the risks to the 
business of the MGB and ensuring the existence 
of comprehensive, appropriate internal controls to 
mitigate such risks;

• Exercising objective judgement on the affairs of 
the MGB, independent from management, but with 
sufficient management information to enable a 
proper and informed assessment; and

• Identifying and monitoring non-financial aspects 
relevant to the business of the MGB, and ensuring 
that the MGB acts responsibly towards all relevant 
stakeholders having a legitimate interest in its affairs.

Board Charter

The Board has a Charter which is aligned to the King III 
Report and which is reviewed annually.  

The Charter deals with the role of the Board (which includes 
strategic planning, monitoring of operational performance 
and management, as well as policy processes), composition 
of the Board, requirements for Board Members, leadership, 
Board Governance (which includes Board Meetings, 
Board Committees, independent professional advice and 
conflicts of interest), Board Secretariat, risk management, 
compliance and internal audit, reporting and accountability, 
as well as the process for review of the Board Charter.  

The appendices to the Board Charter set out matters 
reserved for Board decision, powers of appointment, 
remuneration and delegation of authority, strategic and 
financial matters, regulatory and governance issues, 
policy development, stakeholder relations and general 
issues relating to the appointment, induction and training 
of Board Members, duties of Board Members, the role 
of the Chairperson, the principal functions of the CEO, 
delegation of powers to the CEO, the role of the Board 
Secretariat and Board governance issues.

The appendices also include the Audit and Risk 
Committee Charter, terms of reference of the Corporate 
Services and Compliance Committees, the Board 
corporate governance questionnaire, the Board self-
evaluation form and the Audit and Risk Committee self-
assessment form.  

The Board complies with the Board Charter.

Composition of the Board 

Members of the Board are appointed in terms of the Act 
by the MEC responsible for gambling in consultation with 
the Executive Council of the Mpumalanga Province for 
periods not exceeding three  years and are eligible for re-
appointment as members of the Board at the expiry of their 
terms of office. The composition of the Board in terms 
of the Act, prescribes a maximum number of 10 Board 
members, all of whom shall be non-executive members 
and the Chief Executive Officer, as an ex officio member.

The Board Members’ term of office was extended from  
01 April 2015 to 30 June 2015.

The Board, during the period under review, consisted of 
the following members:

• Vilakazi, JS - (Chairperson)
• Sephiri, MCN - (Deputy Chairperson)
• Du Preez, PJ - (Chairperson of Compliance Committee)
• Mahlangu, DJL - (Board Member)
• Makwetla, TI - (Board Member)
• Masambo, R - (Board Member)
• Mthembu, MS - (Chairperson of Audit and Risk 

Committee)
• Skhosana, SD - (Board Member)
• Thrush, H - (Chairperson of Corporate Services 

Committee) Resigned on 30 April 2015.

The current Board Members’ term of office started from  
01 July 2015.

The Board, during the period under review, consisted of 
the following members:

• Fakude-Nkuna, PNZ - (Chairperson)
• Skhosana, SD - (Chairperson of Compliance 

Committee)
• Makwetla, TI - (Board Member)
• Baloyi, V - (Board Member)
• Deiner, GA – (Chairperson of Audit and Risk 

Committee)
• Mthembu, S – (Chairperson of Corporate Services 

Committee).
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The previous Board Members disclosed their status as per the table below and no matters of concern were identified 
in this regard.

NAME

DESIGNATION 
(IN TERMS OF 
THE PUBLIC 

ENTITY BOARD 
STRUCTURE)

DATE 
APPOINTED

DATE  
RESIGNED QUALIFICATIONS

AREA OF 
EXPERTISE (SEE 

P.69)

BOARD 
DIRECTORSHIPS

OTHER 
COMMITTEES

NO. OF MEETINGS 
ATTENDED

Vilakazi, JS Chairperson 01 April 
2012

Term expired – 
30 June 2015

* A * None. None of five 
meetings.

Sephiri, MCN Deputy 
Chairperson 

01 April 
2012

Term expired – 
30 June 2015

* B&C * ** One of five 
meetings.

Du Preez, PJ Board 
Member

01 April 
2012

Term expired – 
30 June 2015

* D * ** One of five 
meetings.

Trush, H Board 
Member

01 April 
2012

Resigned -  30 
April 2015

* E * ** None of five 
meetings.

Mahlangu, DJL Board 
Member

01 April 
2012

Term expired – 
30 June 2015

* J * ** One of five 
meetings.

Makwetla, TI Board 
Member

12 
November 
2014

Term expired – 
30 June 2015

* G * ** One of five 
meetings.

Masambo, R Board 
Member

01 April 
2012

Term expired – 
30 June 2015

* H * ** One of five 
meetings.

Mthembu, MS Board 
Member

01 April 
2012

Term expired – 
30 June 2015

* F * ** One of five 
meetings.

Skhosana, SD Board 
Member

01 April 
2012

Term expired – 
30 June 2015

* I * ** One of five 
meetings.

The current Board Members disclosed their status as per the table below and no matters of concern were identified in 
this regard.

NAME

DESIGNATION 
(IN TERMS OF 
THE PUBLIC 

ENTITY BOARD 
STRUCTURE)

DATE 
APPOINTED

DATE  
RESIGNED QUALIFICATIONS

AREA OF 
EXPERTISE 

(SEE P.69)

BOARD 
DIRECTORSHIPS

OTHER 
COMMITTEES NO. OF MEETINGS ATTENDED

Fakude-Nkuna, PNZ Chairperson 01 July 
2015

N/A * A * None. Four of five meetings.
One of one special 
meeting.

Skhosana, SD Board 
Member 

01 July 
2015

N/A * D * ** Five of five meetings.
One of one special 
meeting.

Mthembu, MS Board 
Member 

01 July 
2015

N/A * F * ** Five of five meetings.
One of one special 
meeting.

Makwetla, TI Board 
Member 

01 July 
2015

N/A * G * ** Five of five meetings.
One of one special 
meeting.

Baloyi, V Board 
Member 

01 July 
2015

N/A * H * ** Three of five meetings. 
One of one special 
meeting.

Deiner, GA Board 
Member 

01 July 
2015

N/A * I * ** Four of five meetings.
One of one special 
meeting.

* Information is kept on file and was made available to external auditors for auditing purposes.
** Refer to page 42 for details.
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A - Section 4(1)(a)

A person with applicable knowledge or experience with 
regard to matters connected with the functions of the Board, 
appointed as Chairperson.

B - Section 4(1)(g)

Appointed due to regional interests in the Province, not in 
the full-time service of the State, the Province or a Local 
Authority and have proven business acumen or applicable 
knowledge or experience in the field of community and 
socio-economic development and fit and proper to represent 
the community at large.

C - Section 4(1)(h)

Appointed by Board as Deputy Chairperson.

D - Section 4(1)(b)

Appointed as a member who is qualified to be admitted 
to practise as legal practitioner in the Republic and has, 
for a cumulative period of at least five years after having 
so qualified, practised as a legal practitioner or performed 
services related to the application or administration of the 
law.

E - Section 4(1)(c)

Appointed as a person who is qualified as a chartered 
accountant in the Republic and has, for a cumulative period 
of at least five years after having so qualified, practised as a 
chartered accountant.

F - Section 4(1)(d)

Appointed as a member who shall have proven business 
acumen in the tourism industry.

G - Section 4(1)(e)

Appointed as a person representing the Department entrusted 
with the responsibility for gambling in the Province, 
designated by the Responsible Member.

H - Section 4(1)(f)

Appointed as a person representing the Department 
responsible for financial affairs in the Province, designated 
by the Responsible Member.

I - Section 4(1)(g)

Appointed due to regional interests in the Province, not in 
the full-time service of the State, the Province or a Local 
Authority and have proven business acumen or applicable 
knowledge or experience in the field of community and 
socio-economic development and fit and proper to represent 
the community at large.

J - Section 4(1)(g)

Appointed due to regional interests in the Province, not in 
the full-time service of the State, the Province or a Local 
Authority and have proven business acumen or applicable 
knowledge or experience in the field of community and 
socio-economic development and fit and proper to represent 
the community at large.

Area of expertise legend as per the Mpumalanga Gambling Act
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Committees

The Board consists of three committees, namely the 
Corporate Services Committee, Audit and Risk Committee, 
and Compliance Committee. 

Corporate Services Committee

The Corporate Services Committee provides the Board 
with assurance regarding the quality and reliability of the 
management information of the MGB.  The responsibilities 
of the Corporate Services Committee include:

• Considering the proposals received relating to the 
annual budget and submitting recommendations to the 
Board for consideration and approval;

• Reviewing performance against budget;
• Fulfilling the function of a Remuneration Committee;
• Approving revision of the MGB’s internal control 

policies and procedures;
• Approving procurement of goods and services in 

excess of R500 000.00 in terms of the Supply Chain 
Management Framework and the Treasury Regulations 
issued in terms of the PFMA; and

• Monitoring the MGB’s social responsibility 
performance, as well as its compliance with the Broad-
based Black Economic Empowerment Act, 2004 and 
Codes of Good Practice.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Corporate 
Services Committee held four scheduled meetings.  The 
attendance of the Members is recorded overleaf.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee has been established in terms 
of sections 51(1)(a)(ii) and 76(4)(d) of the PFMA and the 
Treasury Regulation 27.1, to  review and monitor the scope 
and effectiveness of the internal and external audit function. 

The Committee has a formal terms of reference, dealing 
adequately with its authority and duties. The Committee 
has satisfied its responsibilities for the year in compliance 
with its terms of reference. The Audit and Risk Committee 
maintains an effective working relationship with the Board, 
Management and internal and external auditors.  

The responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee include:

• Determining the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
internal control systems;

• Evaluating effectiveness or risk management;
• Performing its functions required by law;
• Reviewing the significant accounting and reporting issues, 

including professional and regulatory pronouncements 
and their impact on the financial statements, with a view 
to ensuring consistency with the appropriate accounting 
principles;

• Reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit 
function that is performed by external practitioners, 
whose major responsibilities include the examination 
and evaluation of the effectiveness and performance of 
operational activities and systems, together with the  
attendant business risks and financial controls;

• Reviewing the scope, performance, significant findings 
and recommendations made by the internal and external 
auditors; and

• Reviewing any statement on ethical standards or 
requirements and the procedures to review compliance 
to the Code of Ethics.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Audit and Risk 
Committee held four scheduled meetings and the attendance 
of the members is recorded overleaf.

Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee of the MGB, established in terms 
of the provisions of section 16 of the Act, is responsible for:

• Considering and making recommendations to the Board 
on investigations, licensing, regulatory compliance and 
gambling audit matters;

• Conducting hearings, enquiries and evaluations on any 
matter presented before it;

• Reviewing findings relating to, among others, special 
investigations, illegal gambling activities, cheating 
activities, excluded persons and patron disputes;

• Exercising the powers and functions provided for 
in Sections 36A of the Act and Chapter five of the 
Mpumalanga Gambling Regulations;

• Monitoring the adherence to Internal Control 
Procedures, bid commitments and licence conditions 
by the licensees; and

• Imposing fines and issuing warnings to holders of 
licences, certificates of suitability and certificates of 
approval on disciplinary matters presented before it.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Compliance 
Committee held five scheduled meetings and the attendance 
of the Members is recorded overleaf.
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Previous Committee Members

COMMITTEE NO. OF MEETINGS HELD NO. OF MEMBERS NAMES OF MEMBERS

Corporate Services Committee One of five scheduled meetings Two members Mahlangu, DJL

Masambo, R

Audit and Risk Committee Two of four scheduled meetings Four members Deiner, GA

Meyer, B

Sithole, J

Mthembu, MS 
(Attended one of four scheduled meetings)

Compliance Committee Two of five scheduled meetings Three members Du Preez, PJ

Sephiri, MCN

Skhosana, SD 
(Attended one of five scheduled meetings)

Current Committee Members

COMMITTEE NO. OF MEETINGS HELD NO. OF MEMBERS NAMES OF MEMBERS

Corporate Services Committee Three of five scheduled meetings 
(One meeting was cancelled)

Two members Mthembu, MS

Makwetla, TI

Audit and Risk Committee Two of four scheduled meetings Three  members Deiner, GA

Mthembu, MS

Makwetla, TI

Compliance Committee Three of five scheduled meetings Two members Skhosana, SD

Baloyi, V

Remuneration of former Board Members

NAME
BOARD 

REMUNERATION
R 

OTHER ALLOWANCES
R

OTHER  
RE-IMBURSEMENTS

R
TOTAL

R

Sephiri, MCN 31 500 2 250 15 951 49 701

Du Preez, PJ 31 000 1 500 843 33 343

Mahlangu, DJL 17 500 500 9 392 27 392

Mthembu, MS 24 500 1 000 321 25 821

Skhosana, SD 28 000 750 9 422 38 172

Thrush, H 3 500 - - 3 500
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Remuneration of Board Members

Remuneration of Board Members is dealt with in terms of 
section 9 of the Act.  Members of the Board, who are not in 
the full-time services of the State, are paid such remuneration 

and allowances from the funds of the Board, as determined 
by the Responsible Member, after consultation with the 
MEC responsible for Finance in the Province.  The Board’s 
subsistence and travel allowances are also paid by the MGB.
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Remuneration of current Board Members

NAME
BOARD 

REMUNERATION
R 

OTHER ALLOWANCES
R

OTHER RE-
IMBURSEMENTS

R
TOTAL

R

Fakude-Nkuna,PNZ 130 000 3 000 - 133 000

SD Skhosana, SD 62 500 1 500 36 840 100 840

MS Mthembu, MS 73 000 2 000 4 850 79 850

Ms GA Deiner, Ms 67 000 1 750 17 664 86 414

Remuneration of former Audit and Risk Committee Members

NAME
BOARD 

REMUNERATION
R 

OTHER ALLOWANCES
R

OTHER RE-
IMBURSEMENTS

R
TOTAL

R

Mthembu, MS 8 000 - - 8 000

Deiner, GA 18 500 750 5 201 24 451

Sithole, JK 14 000 1 250 410 15 660

Meyer, B 14 000 1 250 1 015 16 265

Remuneration of current Audit and Risk Committee Members

NAME
BOARD 

REMUNERATION
R 

OTHER ALLOWANCES
R

OTHER RE-
IMBURSEMENTS

R
TOTAL

R

Deiner, GA 16 000 - 7 497 23 497

Mthembu, MS 14 000 - 153 14 153

5.  Risk Management

The risk management function is placed under the Chief 
Financial Officer to facilitate fraud prevention strategies. 
The Risk Management engages in several strategies, such as 
awareness campaigns to reduce fraud and corruption risks, 
as well as to ensure that the entity is perceived as ethical in 
all its dealings with the public and other interest parties.

A risk assessment is conducted annually, during which risks 
are evaluated in terms of impact, likelihood of occurrence 
and the perceived effectiveness of controls in place to 
manage the risks. 

There are current business processes/controls in place to 
manage the risks identified.

6.  Internal Control Unit

The Internal Control Unit ensures that a sound internal control 
environment is in place at the MGB. Accordingly, this unit 

performs the necessary coordination work in this regard, 
assuring that activities are performed regularly, efficiently, 
effectively and in accordance with the management 
strategy and policies of the Board and the applicable rules 
and regulations.  Additionally, it monitors the integrity 
and reliability of accounting and recording systems.  The 
processes are automated and centralised to minimise errors, 
and are well documented in the ICP document which is 
reviewed annually. The Corporate Services Department acts 
as the custodian who administers the implementation and 
the policies and procedures in order to reduce issues of non-
compliance when executing transactions.

Internal controls are implemented by the various departments 
within the MGB, which are required to comply with the ICP.

Departmental Managers monitor the implementation of and 
compliance with the ICPs.

The Audit and Risk Committee and Internal Audit function 
have full access to all records, properties and personnel of 
the MGB. All staff and management of the MGB endeavour 
to provide necessary assistance to and co-operate with staff 
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of the Internal Audit function in the performance of their 
duties.

The ICP encompasses the policies, processes, tasks, 
behaviours and other aspects of the business of the Board 
to ensure compliance with applicable legislation, regulations 
and also with the internal policies and procedures to ensure 
that the Board operates effectively and efficiently and has a 
reliable operational, financial and human resources reporting 
system.

7.  Internal Audit and Audit and Risk Committees

The objective of the internal audit function is to provide an 
independent and objective assurance and consulting service 
to the MGB. 

The work of the internal audit function includes the 
assessment of the internal controls, audit of performance 
information, HR audit and financial reviews.

The Audit and Risk Committee oversees the internal audit 
function.

Relevant information on the Audit and Risk Committee 
members is set out in the table below.

8.  Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As part of the risk management process, one of the strategic 
risks of the MGB is compliance with statutory obligations.  
The MGB has therefore identified the main pieces of 
legislation which it is obliged to comply with. The table 
setting out the said legislation is available.

The aim of the legal compliance framework is to put 
an effective system in place to ensure compliance with 
relevant legislation by raising staff members’ awareness 
with regard to the legislative compliance relevant to the 
business of the MGB, and to promote a sound compliance 
culture at the MGB.

The Legal Services Department subscribes to legislation alert 
services (Lee’s Compliance Solutions (Pty) Ltd, Corporate 
Lawyers’ Association of South Africa and Sabinet Netlaw) 
whereby it receives regular notification of all new legislation 
or amendments of existing legislation.  The department also 
makes use of the internet to track changes in legislation.  
Board and staff members are notified of legislative changes 
on at least a quarterly basis.

At a strategic level, the Board carries the overall responsibility 
for ensuring that the MGB fulfils its legal obligations and 
effectively manages any risk exposure that may result from 
legal compliance failures.  The Board is assisted in this regard 

Audit and Risk Committee

NAME QUALIFICATIONS INTERNAL OR 
EXTERNAL

IF INTERNAL, 
POSITION IN 
THE PUBLIC 

ENTITY

DATE APPOINTED DATE 
RESIGNED

NO. OF 
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED

Deiner, GA BA Degree, Higher Diploma 
in Education, BCompt, 
SAIPA Member, Registered 
Tax Practitioner

External independent 
member, non-
executive Board 
Member

N/A. 01 October 2012 
to 30 June 2015
01 July 2015

N/A. Four of four 
scheduled 
meetings.

Meyer, B CA (SA), B.Compt, 
Postgraduate Diploma in 
Auditing

External independent 
Member

N/A. 01 October 2012 
to 30 September 
2015

N/A. Two of four 
scheduled 
meetings.

Sithole, JK B Com, (UNIN) Hons 
BCompt, CA (SA), Member 
of South African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants

External N/A. 01 October 2012 
to 30 September 
2015

N/A. Two of four 
scheduled 
meetings.

Mthembu, MS Master of Business 
Leadership, Bachelor of 
Commerce (Accounting),  
Diploma in Accounting and 
Business Studies

External 
(Non-executive 
Board Member)

N/A. 01 April 2015 to 
30 June 2015
01 October 2015

N/A. Three of four 
scheduled 
meetings.

Makwetla, TI BCom Management, UED 
Post Graduate Diploma in 
Education, BEd

External 
(Non-executive 
Board Member)

N/A. 01 October 2015 N/A. Two of four 
scheduled 
meetings.
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through monitoring by the Audit and Risk Committee, as 
well as assurance provided by Management.

Managers are expected to promote, monitor and uphold a 
positive culture within their sphere of authority and control; 
to investigate and respond to alleged compliance breaches; 
and to implement the necessary measures to assist the MGB 
to meet its compliance obligations.

Staff members have the responsibility to familiarise 
themselves with legislation that impacts their day-to-day 
work and to ensure that their activities on behalf of the MGB 
comply with applicable legislation.

9.  Fraud and Corruption

The MGB continues to ensure that proper controls are in 
place to prevent and detect fraudulent and irregular activities. 
All employees of the MGB are aware of the fraud indicators 
and report suspected acts of fraud and corruption through 
appropriate channels as outlined in the Fraud and Corruption 
Prevention Policy contained in the ICP. All employees are 
required to subscribe and conduct themselves according to 
the Board’s Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics.

10.  Minimising Conflict of Interest

The policy of the MGB provides that all employees must 
disclose and update, annually, all outside business interests, 
whether direct or indirect, by completing the prescribed 
“Declaration of Outside Interest” form. All employees 
completed this form by 31 March 2016.  All interests that 
result in an employee earning additional income or which 
will take up a material portion of the employee’s private time, 
must be disclosed in writing to the CEO for consideration.

In accordance with the provisions of section 5(1)(b)(i)(ii) 
and section 5(2)(a) of the Act, an employee must disclose 
situations that could give rise to a conflict of interest or to a 
change of employment suitability, if he/she:

• whether personally or through his/her spouse, an 
immediate family member, partner or associate has 
or acquires direct or indirect financial or controlling 
interest in any gambling activity; or

• has any interest in any business that may conflict 
or interfere with the proper performance of his/her 
functions as a staff member of the MGB.

Section 12 of the Act deals with the position of public trust 
of the Board, as well as conflicts of interest, which include 
the appropriate conduct for dealing with conflicts. Board 
Members must declare any conflict of interest that they may 
have at each meeting after adoption of the meeting’s agenda 
and furthermore, annually complete Declaration of Interest 
forms that are kept on file by the Board Secretariat.  

In general, Board Members must inform the Board of any 
actual, suspected or potential conflict of interests they may 
have in relation to particular items of business, as soon as 
they become aware of such conflict or potential conflict.

Board Members must recuse themselves from discussions or 
decisions on matters in which they have a conflict of interest.

11.   Code of Conduct

The Board has a Code of Ethics, which is reviewed annually, 
as well as an ethics evaluation form which Board and Audit 
Committee Members complete annually. The Code of 
Ethics is aligned to King III and breaches of the Code of 
Ethics are dealt with by the Chairperson of the Board and the 
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee.

12.  Health, Safety and Environmental Issues

The MGB ensures the health, safety and wellness of its 
employees, as well as visitors and contractors by constantly 
surveying the workplace for any health and safety risks or 
hazards. An Occupational Hygiene and Environmental 
Survey was performed by an independent accredited health 
and safety service provider, who provided recommendations 
on, inter alia, office ergonomics, artificial illumination, 
ventilation/thermal comfort and indoor air quality. These 
recommendations and/or control measures have since been 
implemented. Following the recommendations highlighted 
on the survey, corrective measures were implemented to 
ensure that legal compliance and the integrated safety, 
health and environmental management systems are not 
compromised.
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A Health and Safety Committee promotes continuous 
awareness, monitoring and improvement in health and 
safety risk identification and immediate elimination of 
any potential risks in the workplace. Management ensures 
that the members of the Health and Safety Committee are 
provided with relevant information, instructions, training 
and supervision as and when required to enable them to 
perform their health and safety responsibilities, thereby 
ensuring  that the premises of the MGB remains healthy 
and safe.   An Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) is in 
place, which provides support, assistance and professional 
referrals which may affect an employee physically, mentally 
or emotionally. The Health and Safety Committee also 
serves as the EAP Committee which provides employees 
with voluntary support and advisory services, as and when 
required. Employees may consult this committee directly.

13.   Company / Board Secretary

Not applicable. The MGB does not fall under the Companies 
Act. However, the Legal Services Department fulfils the role 
of Board Secretariat.

14.   Social Responsibility

Good governance and social involvement go beyond the 
work performed in offices, therefore the MGB is voluntarily 
involved in social projects that help advance the community 
in which it operates.

During the period under review the MGB, in conjunction 
with the Department of Economic Development and 
Tourism, donated 150 blankets to the Lydenburg Old Age 
Home for Mandela Day.
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Auditor’s Report

We have reviewed the public entity’s implementation 
plan to maintain the status quo since there were no audit 
issues raised in the prior year. We are also satisfied that 
the entity will continue to maintain the current status as 
per plan.

The Audit and Risk Committee concurs and accepts the 
conclusions of the external auditor on the AFS and is of 
the opinion that the audited AFS be accepted and read 
together with the report of the auditor.

GA Deiner 
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
12 May 2016
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1.  Introduction

Staff Structure 

The approved structure of the MGB comprises of 58 
employees. On 31 March 2016, the total staff compliment 
comprised of 50 employees with eight vacancies which 
were not filled due to government’s moratorium on filling 
vacant posts.

Review of the Internal Control Procedures 

The ICPs were reviewed in consultation with staff members 
and updated to ensure compliance with applicable legislation 
and the operational requirements of the MGB.

Recruitment 

To ensure that the MGB has appropriate human resources 
to deliver on its mandate, Management addressed the 
moratorium on vacancies by reviewing the organogram 
while  taking the existing pool of human resource skills, 
knowledge and experience into consideration. Vacant 
positions were advertised internally. Interdepartmental/
lateral transfers of staff members were implemented and 
staff who demonstrated potential to acquire the requisite 
skills for the job within a reasonable period of time, were 
appointed and promoted to the said positions after the 
interview and selection process. 

Annual Training Plans

Staff training needs were identified. Training plans were 
developed and implemented to ensure that staff members 
improve their skills, knowledge and expertise to enable 
them to perform optimally in their positions.

Educational Assistance

Financial assistance was provided to staff members to 
enhance, improve and upgrade their education, skills and 
qualifications at institutions of higher learning. In this way 
the MGB ensures that it meets its compliance and regulatory 
needs, as well as overall goals.  

Performance Management

Staff performance evaluations were conducted and 
performance bonuses were paid accordingly.

Annual Salary Reviews

Staff salaries were reviewed, adjusted and implemented on 
01 April 2016.

Employment Equity plans

Employment Equity plans were developed in consultation 
with staff and submitted to the Department of Labour on  
01 October 2015.

Employee Wellness Programmes

The MGB held two Wellness Days to promote team 
building and the physical well-being of staff, motivate 
staff to adopt healthy lifestyles, enhance corporate 
wellness and productivity, and create a health conscious 
working environment and culture. Medical professionals 
provided staff with information on general wellness, 
health assessments, screening, counselling and testing for 
chronic illnesses and dreaded diseases,  as well as advice on 
preventative interventions to reduce health risks. World Aids 
Day was commemorated.  

The MGB hosted the South African National Blood Services 
on its premises where staff members were encouraged to 
donate blood to assist them with blood shortages.

Awards

Long service awards were awarded to eligible employees in 
recognition of their length of service with the MGB.  
Employees who acquired new qualifications from institutions 
of higher learning were also awarded in recognition of their 
achievements.
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Reasons for Staff Leaving

REASON NUMBER % OF TOTAL NO. OF STAFF LEAVING

Resignation 3 5%

Retirement 1 2%

Death 1 2%

TOTAL 5 9%

Labour Relations: Misconduct and Disciplinary Action

NATURE OF DISCIPLINARY 
ACTION NUMBER 

Verbal warning None

Written warning None

Final written warning None

Dismissal None

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status

TYPE

MALE

AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET

Senior Management 4 4 0 1 0 0 1 0

Professional qualified 3 5 0 1 0 0 4 1

Skilled 7 11 0 1 1 1 1 2

Semi-skilled 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL *15 24 0 3 *1 1 *6 3

*Total males - 22

TYPE

FEMALE

AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET

Senior Management 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 1

Professional qualified 5 5 1 1 0 0 0 0

Skilled 12 10 1 0 1 1 0 1

Semi-skilled 6 6 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL *23 23 *2 1 *1 1 *2 2

*Total females - 28

LEVELS

DISABLED STAFF

MALE FEMALE

CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET

Skilled 0 0 1 1

TOTAL 0 0 1 1
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Report of the Auditor-General

Report on the Financial Statements

Introduction

1. I have audited the financial statements of the 
Mpumalanga Gambling Board set out on pages 61 
to 84, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2016, the statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, cash 
flow statement and statement of comparison of budget 
information with actual information for the year then 
ended, as well as the notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

Accounting Authority’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements 
of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 
1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such internal 
control as the accounting determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Auditor-General’s Responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on my audit. I conducted 
my audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with 
ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion 

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Mpumalanga Gambling Board as at 31 March 2016 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended, in accordance with the SA Standards 
of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

7. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 
2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report 
findings on the reported performance information 
against predetermined objectives for selected 
programmes presented in the annual performance 
report, compliance with legislation and internal control. 
The objective of my tests was to identify reportable 
findings as described under each subheading but not to 

Report of the Auditor-General to the Mpumalanga Provincial Legislature on the Mpumalanga 
Gambling Board
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gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. 
Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion 
on these matters.

Predetermined Objectives

8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the 
usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report of the 
public entity for the year ended 31 March 2016:

• Programme 2: investigations and licensing on 
page 22.

• Programme 3: gambling control on page 23.

• Programme 4: gambling audit on page 24.

• Programme 6: corporate services on pages 26 to 
27.

• Programme 7: communications on pages 28 to 29.

9. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance 
information to determine whether it was presented 
in accordance with the National Treasury’s annual 
reporting principles and whether the reported 
performance was consistent with the planned 
programmes. I further performed tests to determine 
whether indicators and targets were well defined, 
verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and 
relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s 
Framework for Managing Programme Performance 
Information.

10. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance 
information to determine whether it was valid, accurate 
and complete.

11. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance information 
for the following programmes: 

• Programme 2: investigations and licensing

• Programme 3: gambling control

• Programme 4: gambling audit

• Programme 6: corporate services

• Programme 7: communications

Additional Matter

12. Although I raised no material findings on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance information 
for the selected programmes, I draw attention to the 
following matter:

Achievement of Planned Targets

13. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 20 to 
31 for information on the achievement of the planned 
targets for the year. 

Compliance with Legislation

14. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the 
public entity had complied with applicable legislation 
regarding financial matters, financial management and 
other related matters. I did not identify any instances 
of material non-compliance with specific matters in 
key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in 
terms of the PAA.

Internal Control 

15. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of 
the financial statements, annual performance report 
and compliance with legislation. I did not identify any 
significant deficiencies in internal control.

Mbombela

29 July 2016
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Report of the Accounting Authority

The Accounting Authority has pleasure in presenting its 
report for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Background

The Mpumalanga Gambling Board (MGB) is a juristic 
persona serving as a provincial public entity  established 
in terms of Section 2 of the Mpumalanga Gambling Act, 
1995 (Act No. 5 of 1995)  as amended (the Act). The 
MGB reports to and receives grants from the Department 
of Economic Development and Tourism (DEDT). The 
grants received were utilised in terms of the approved 
Strategic Plan of the MGB.

The MGB has been charged with the responsibility to 
perform all functions assigned to it in terms of the Act, 
or any other applicable legislation and by advising, 
reporting or making recommendations to the Responsible 
Member on any matter relating to the control of gambling 
in the Mpumalanga Province.

Board Members

The Board Members in office at the date of this report 
were re-appointed with effect from 1 April 2015, with 
their term expiring on 30 June 2015:

Vilakazi, JS Chairperson
Sephiri, MCN Deputy Chairperson
Du Preez, PJ
Mahlangu, DJL
Masambo, R
Mthembu, SM
Skhosana, SD
Thrush H Resigned 30 April 2015

The Board Members in office at the date of this report 
were appointed with effect from 1 July 2015, with their 
term expiring on 30 June 2018:

Nkuna-Fakude, PNZ Chairperson
Baloyi, V
Makwetla, T
Mthembu, SM
Skhosana, SD
Deiner, GA
Mlambo, BJ Chief Executive Officer (ex officio)

Financial Overview

The summarised results of the MGB’s operations for the 
year ended 31 March 2016 are as follows:

Details
2016

R
2015

R

Revenue 52 205 000 54 549 334
Surplus for the year 1 283 552 1 790 751

Total Assets 52 908 261 52 999 430
Total Liabilities 25 793 367 27 168 088 

Fruitless or Wasteful Expenditure

It is noted that there was no fruitless or wasteful 
expenditure recorded during the period under review.

Conclusion

There were no subsequent events or matter/s which the 
Board wishes to draw attention to that has not already 
been highlighted elsewhere in the Annual Report.
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Notes

2016
R

2015
R

Assets 
Non current assets 
Property and equipment 3 23 285 905 21 470 109

23 285 905 21 470 109
  

Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 5 7 995 035 7 458 719
Cash and cash equivalents 6 21 627 321 24 070 602

29 622 356 31 529 321
  

Total assets 52 908 261 52 999 430
  

Liabilities 
Non current liabilities 
Long-term finance lease obligation 7  212 176 -   

  
Current liabilities 
Short-term portion of finance lease obligation 7  109 036  13 605
Short-term provisions 8 3 589 279 3 539 941
Trade and other payables 9 13 882 876 15 614 542
Deferred revenue 10 8 000 000 8 000 000

25 581 191 27 168 088
  

Total liabilities 25 793 367 27 168 088
  

Net assets 27 114 894 25 831 342
 

Reserves
Non-distributable reserve 16 328 603 16 328 603
Accumulated surplus 10 786 291 9 502 739
Total reserves 27 114 894 25 831 342

as at 31 March 2016

Statement of Financial Position
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Notes

2016
R

2015
R

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Grant revenue 11 52 205 000 54 500 000
Conditional revenue 11 -  49 334

52 205 000 54 549 334

Revenue from exchange transactions
Other income  2 933  7 318

52 207 933 54 556 652
Operating expenses (52 129 077) (53 711 500)
Other expenses
Profit on sale of assets  84 968  37 270
Operating surplus from operations 12  163 824  882 422
Finance income 14 1 120 066  909 661
Finance costs 15 (338) (1 332)
Surplus for the year 1 283 552 1 790 751

for the year ended 31 March 2016

Statement of Financial Performance
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OTHER NDR
R

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS

R

TOTAL  
NET ASSETS

R

Balance at 1 April 2014 15 310 584 7 711 988 23 022 572 
Surplus for the year - 1 790 751 1 790 751 
Revaluation of property and equipment 1 018 019            - 1 018 019 
Balance at 1 April 2015 16 328 603 9 502 739  25 831 342 
Surplus for the year - 1 283 552 1 283 552
Balance at 31 March 2016 16 328 603 10 786 291 27 114 894 

Other non-distributable reserve (NDR)

The non-distributable reserves (other NDR) have accumulated through unrealised gains from P&E revaluations. 
Refer to note 3.

Accumulated surplus

The accumulated surplus consists of the funds previously authorised by the Executive Authority for the erection of 
additional MGB offices, as well as interest earned from positive bank balances.

for the year ended 31 March 2016

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
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Notes

2016
R

2015
R

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts 
Transfer  revenue 11 52 205 000 54 549 334 
Finance income 14 1 120 066  909 661 
Other receipts  2 933  7 318 

53 327 999 55 466 313 
Payments   
Employee costs 13 (34 756 071) (33 274 268)
Suppliers (19 155 922) (15 599 292)
Finance costs 16 (338) (1 332)

(53 912 331) (48 874 892)
Net cash flows from operating activities 17 ( 584 332) 6 591 421 
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment 3 (2 284 873) (720 206)
Finance lease assets  330 249 -
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  118 314  72 960 
Net cash flows from investing activities (1 836 310) (647 246)

  
Cash flows from financing activities
Finance lease payments (22 639) (93 143)
Net cash flows from financing activities (22 639) (93 143)

  
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (2 443 281) 5 851 032 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 24 070 602 18 219 570 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 21 627 321 24 070 602

for the year ended 31 March 2016

Cash Flow Statement
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Notes

APPROVED  
FINAL BUDGET

R

ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS ON 
COMPARABLE 

BASIS
R

DIFFERENCE 
BETWEEN FINAL 

BUDGET AND 
ACTUAL

R

Receipts
Grant revenue 11 52 205 000 52 205 000 -
Finance income  14 - 1 120 066 1 120 066
Other income -  2 933  2 933
Total receipts 52 205 000 53 327 999 1 122 999

Payments
Employee costs      13 34 872 786 34 756 071  116 715
Operating expenses*   12 16 838 234 16 888 957 (50 723)
Capital expenditure  12  493 980  560 807 (66 827)
Total payments 52 205 000 52 205 835 (835)
Net receipts - (1 122 164) 1 122 164

* The operating expenses exclude the depreciation expense which was not taken into account when preparing the 
budget for the year.

for the year ended 31 March 2016

Statement of 
Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts 
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for the year ended 31 March 2016

Accounting Policies 

1.  Basis of Preparation

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council in accordance with Section 55(b) of the Public Finance Management Act, 
1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) as amended.

1.1  Presentation of Annual Financial Statements 

These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting, except for the cash flow 
Statement, and are in accordance with historical cost convention and incorporate the principal accounting policies set 
out below, which are consistent with those adopted in the previous financial year. They are presented in South African 
Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

1.2  Going Concern Assumption

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

1.3  Property and Equipment (P&E)

P&E are tangible non-current assets that are held for administrative purposes and are expected to be used during more 
than one period.

The cost of an item of P&E is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity, and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

P&E are initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of P&E is the purchase price and other direct costs attributable to bring the asset to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and 
rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. 

Where an asset is acquired at no cost or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Where 
an item of P&E is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets or a combination of monetary and 
non monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value 
was not determinable, its deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up. 

The difference between the fair value of the items of P&E acquired for no cost or nominal cost in the case of non-
monetary acquisitions, will be accounted for within the non-distributable reserves (NDR). When significant components 
of an item of P&E have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of P&E.
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To maintain the value of the building in current terms, comprehensive revaluations will be carried out at least every 
three years. Each year the depreciation, based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset, is charged to the statement 
of financial performance. The revaluation increments or surplus arising upon revaluation are credited directly to the 
non-distributable reserve.

Other items of P&E are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

When an item of P&E is revalued, it is carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value at the date of the revaluation, 
less subsequent depreciation and subsequent impairment, provided that fair value can be measured reliably. 

Depreciation is provided to write down the property and equipment on a straight-line basis to its residual values as 
follows:

ITEM USEFUL LIFE 
Buildings 20 years
Computer equipment 3 – 6 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 – 8 years
Motor vehicles 100 000 – 171 900km
Office equipment 4 - 7 years
Leased office equipment 3 – 5 years

The residual value and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
date. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of P&E with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, is depreciated 
separately. The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit, unless it is included in the 
carrying amount of another asset. Items of P&E are derecognised when the asset is disposed of, or when there are 
no further economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of P&E is included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of an item of P&E is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds if 
any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.4  Intangible Assets

An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:

• is capable of being separated or divided from an entity; sold, transferred and disposed of; licensed; rented or 
exchanged either individually or together with a related contract asset or liability; or

• arises from contractual rights or other legal rights regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separate 
from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the entity, and 

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Accounting Policies (cont.)
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The cost of an intangible asset acquired at no or nominal cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
Intangible assets are carried at cost, less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is not 
provided for these intangible assets but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication 
that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets, amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over 
their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Internally-generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists, and items similar in substance are not 
recognised as intangible assets.

1.5  Financial Instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the MGB becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments. The MGB classifies financial instruments or their component parts on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 
determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

Financial instruments which are not at fair value through surplus or deficit transaction costs, are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument. Regular way purchases of financial assets are accounted for at trade date.

Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognised when it has been transferred or disposed of, and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. 
A transfer requires that the MGB either: (a) transfers the contractual rights to receive the asset’s cash flows; or (b) 
retains the right to the asset’s cash flows but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to a third party. 

After a transfer, the MGB assesses the extent to which it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
transferred asset. If substantially all the risks and rewards have been retained, the asset remains on the statement 
of financial position. If substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred, the asset is derecognised. If 
substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither retained nor transferred, the MGB assesses whether or not it 
has retained control of the asset. If it has not retained control, the asset is derecognised. Where the MGB has retained 
control of the asset, it continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement.

A financial liability is removed from the Statement of financial position when the obligation is discharged, cancelled, 
or it expires. On the redemption or settlement of debt securities (including subordinated liabilities) issued by the MGB, 
the MGB derecognises the debt instrument and records a gain or loss, being the difference between the debt’s carrying 
amount and the cost of redemption or settlement. The same treatment applies where the debt is exchanged for a new 
debt issue that has terms substantially different from those of the existing debt. The assessment of whether the terms 
of the new debt instrument are substantially different takes into account qualitative and quantitative characteristics, 
including a comparison of the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, with the discounted 
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original debt issue.
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Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised 
in surplus or deficit when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 
payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance 
recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the deficit is 
recognised in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off 
against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against operating expenses in surplus or deficit. Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

At every statement of financial position date, financial assets (with the exception of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss) are subjected to an impairment test to establish whether there are any indications of impairment 
(for example, substantial financial difficulties on the part of the debtor; significant probability of insolvency 
proceedings against the debtor; the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset; significant changes in the 
technological, economic, legal and/or market environment in which the issuer operates a sustained fall in the fair value 
of the financial asset below amortised cost).

1.6  Income Tax

No provision for income tax is made as the Mpumalanga Gambling Board is exempt from payment thereof in terms 
of section 10(1) (cA) (i) of the Income Tax Act.

1.7  Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership.

Accounting Policies (cont.)
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Finance leases – lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the Statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the Statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in 
the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The 
finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

1.8  Employee Benefits

Staff remuneration

The cost of short-term employee benefits are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not 
discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or in the case of non accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

The Board has an umbrella provident fund which is governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. Membership at 
establishment of the fund was voluntary for all existing employees and compulsory for all future employees. The fund 
is a defined contribution fund and therefore no actuarial valuation is required.  Expenditure is charged in the year it is 
incurred. The fund is self contributory.

1.9  Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources, embodying economic benefits or service potential, will be required to 

settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
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The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation 
at 31 March 2016. Where the effect of time-value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value 
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when and only when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 
the MGB settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed 
if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be 
required to settle the obligation.

1.10  Revenue

Measurement of revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, where in most cases the consideration 
is in the form of cash or cash equivalents. 

Recognition of revenue 

Government grants 

The receipt of government grants is considered to be a contribution. A contribution occurs when the MGB receives 
an asset without having to give equal value to the other party/parties of the transfer. Revenue comprises government 
grants net of savings surrendered which are brought into account in the year in which the amounts are due. Finance 
income is recognised using the effective interest rate method, or when such cash is received or receivable.

If the consideration received is in the form of a contribution, the income is to be recognised as revenue when all of the 
following conditions have been satisfied: 

(i)  the MGB obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution; 
(ii)  it is probable that the contribution will flow to the MGB; and 
(iii)  the amount of the contribution can be reliably measured. 

Income is therefore only recognised when the MGB has control over the contribution, which is usually achieved 
through receipt or when entitlement for the revenue is established. If the government contributions are received with 
conditions attached, and contributions have to be refunded if the conditions are not met, then revenue should not be 
recognised until all of those conditions are met.

1.11   Deferred Revenue

Any conditional grant received for activities or services occurring in future financial years are recorded as deferred 
revenue and are recognised as revenue when the goods or services have been provided.

Accounting Policies (cont.)
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1.12   Finance Income

Finance income consists of interest earned from the bank and is recognised using the effective interest rate.

1.13  Other Income

Other income consists of confiscated monies from illegal gambling sites and/or machines.

1.14  Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.15  Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the Statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the 
nature of the expense and where recovered it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the Statement of financial 
performance.

1.16  Irregular Expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure incurred 
in contravention of, or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation including:

• this Act; or
• the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968)  or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
• any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of  2008/2009, which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the 
PFMA, requires the following (effective from 01 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is 
being awaited at year-end, must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the 
exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial 
year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned. 
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned 
by the National Treasury or the relevant authority, must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. 

If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is 
liable according to the law. Immediate steps must be taken thereafter to recover the amount from the person concerned. PA
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If recovery is not possible, the Accounting Officer or Accounting Authority may write off the amount as debt 
impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must 
also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable according to 
the law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item to be disclosed 
as such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.17  Budget Information

General purpose financial reporting by the MGB provides information on whether resources were obtained and used 
in accordance with the legally adopted budget and approved strategy of the Board. The annual financial statements 
and the budget are on the same basis of accounting with the exception of the depreciation and amortisation, therefore 
a comparison with the budgeted amounts for the reporting period has been included in the annual financial statements. 

2.  New Standards and Interpretations

2.1  Standards and Interpretations Effective and Adopted in the Current Year

In the current year there were no standards and interpretations that were relevant to the MGB’s operations that could 
be adopted.

2.2  Standards and Interpretations not yet Effective or Relevant

The following standards and interpretations have been published and are mandatory for the MGB’s accounting periods, 
but are not yet effective: 

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION DATE

GRAP 20 Related Party Disclosures Issued June 2011

GRAP 32 Standard of GRAP on Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor Issued August 2013

GRAP 108 Statutory Receivables Issued September 2013

GRAP  109 Accounting by Principals and Agents Issued July 2015

Accounting Policies (cont.)
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for the year ended 31 March 2016

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 

3. Property and Equipment

2016 2015

COST /  
VALUATION

R

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

R

CARRYING 
VALUE

R

COST /  
VALUATION

R

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

R

CARRYING 
VALUE

R

Building    20 656 155  - 20 656 155 19 355 400 - 19 355 400

Computer equipment 5 052 014  (4 510 259) 541 755 4 957 453 (4 231 669) 725 784

Furniture and fixtures 1 891 048  (1 813 812) 77 236 1 932 621 (1 895 227) 37 394

Office equipment 2 841 872  (1 515 513)  1 326 359 2 808 615 (1 645 716) 1 162 899

Motor vehicles 1 103 816     (740 323) 363 493 1 015 213 (861 369) 153 844

31 544 905  (8 579 907) 22 964 998 30 069 302 (8 633 981) 21 435 321

Leased office equipment 330 248         (9 341) 320 907 311 658 (276 870) 34 788

Total 31 875 153  (8 589 248) 23 285 905 30 380 960 (8 910 851) 21 470 109

In terms of the requirements of GRAP 17, the useful life and residual values of all assets were reviewed by management at year-end.

Reconciliation of  
property and equipment – 2016

OPENING  
BALANCE

R
ADDITIONS

R
DISPOSALS

R
DEPRECIATION

R
TOTAL

R

Building 19 355 400 1 300 755 -                     -   20 656 155

Computer equipment 725 784 137 345 (9 932) (311 442) 541 755

Furniture and fixtures 37 394 55 964 - (16 122) 77 236

Office equipment 1 162 899 235 561 (8 070) (64 031) 1 326 359

Motor vehicles 153 844         225 000   (15 344)                   (7)   363 493

21 435 321 1 954 625 (33 346) (391 602) 22 964 998

Leased office equipment 34 788      330 248   - (44 129) 320 907

21 470 109 2 284 873 (33 346) (435 731) 23 285 905

Reconciliation of  
property and equipment – 2015

OPENING  
BALANCE

R
ADDITIONS

R
REVALUATION

R
DISPOSALS

R
DEPRECIATION

R
TOTAL

R

Building 17 997 137 340 244 1 018 019 -                     -   19 355 400

Computer equipment 672 254 310 885 - (22 922) (234 433) 725 784

Furniture and fixtures 38 673 4 500 - - (5 779) 37 394

Office equipment 1 151 945 64 577 - (12 768) (40 855) 1 162 899

Motor vehicles 153 844                     -   - -                     -   153 844

20 013 853 720 206 1 018 019 (35 690) (281 067) 21 435 321

Leased office equipment 104 244                     -   - - (69 456) 34 788

20 118 097 720 206 1 018 019 (35 690) (350 523) 21 470 109
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3. Property and Equipment (cont.)

The building is situated on portion 273 (a portion of portion 60) of the Farm 64, White River, JU, measuring 1.4210 
hectares with the building size of 3 000m². The land on which the building is erected is owned by the State. The 
State Attorney is in the process of endorsing the title deed to indicate that the land is used by the MGB. However, 
the process cannot be completed, because of a pending land claim. 

3.1  Financed leased assets
Property and equipment to the value of R320 907 (2015: R34 788) are encumbered under finance lease obligations.  
Refer to note 7 for details thereon. 

3.2  Revaluation
The building was revalued as at 31 March 2015 by an independent property consultant, Thwala and Moffett 
Properties, and the change was duly incorporated into the annual financial statements. The assumptions applied in 
arriving at the building’s revised value of R19 355 400 was the projection of monthly rental income based on an 
annual 7% escalation and a capitalisation rate of 10%.  

Should the revaluation not have been taken into account, the carrying value of the building as at 31 March 2016 
would have been as follows: 

2016

CARRYING VALUE 
AT BEGINNING  

OF YEAR 
R

ADDITIONS
R

DEPRECIATION
R

CARRYING VALUE
 AT END OF YEAR

R

Building 4 407 848 1 300 755 (738 022) 4 970 581
Total 4 407 848 1 300 755 (738 022) 4 970 581

2015

Building 4 740 587 340 245 (672 984) 4 407 848
Total 4 740 587 340 245 (672 984) 4 407 848

4. Intangible Assets

2016 2015

COST /  
VALUATION

R

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

R
CARRYING VALUE

R

COST /  
VALUATION

R

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

R
CARRYING VALUE

R

Computer software   1 455 866    (1 455 866) -   1 455 866 (1 455 866) -

Total 1 455 866  (1 455 866) - 1 455 866  (1 455 866) -

The MGB holds intangible assets which are fully depreciated and still in use as at 31 March 2016. The fair value 
of these assets is R134,550. The entity has previously planned to replace these assets but failed due to budgetary 
constraints.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (cont.)
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5. Trade and other Receivables  
2016

R
2015

R

Trade debtors  7 692 290  7 088 950
Prepayments 302  745 369 769 

 7 995 035  7 458 719 

The prepayments consist of the entire credit balance for any upcoming payment that is paid in advance of the date 
for which the borrower is contractually obligated to pay it.  The following receivables had balances outstanding at 31 
March 2016 which represented more than 5% of the total balance of outstanding trade receivables and were received 
/ realised by the end of April 2016:

2016
R

PERCENTAGE OF 
TOTAL

 %
2015

R

PERCENTAGE OF 
TOTAL

 %

Casinos’ licensees 4 605 134 58% 4 099 943 58%
Routes and sites licensees 2 602 597 33% 1 081 919 15%
Bingo sites 398 674  5% 365 757 5%

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates fair value because of the short period to maturity. 
The age analysis of trade and other receivables is as follows and no impairment of debts was considered necessary 
at year-end:

2016
R

2015
R

0 – 30 days   7 969 022   7 088 950
60 days + 26 013 -

  7 995 035   7 088 950

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions are at fair value. The maximum exposure of the credit limit 
at year-end is the fair value of each class of trade and other receivables mentioned above. The entity does not hold 
any collateral as security. None of the trade and other receivables have been utilised as security or collateral for 
liabilities, nor have any terms of any receivables been renegotiated.
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6. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
2016

R
2015

R

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 1 962 469
Cash on hand 21 625 359 24 070 133
Bank balances 21 627 321 24 070 602

Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial institutions.

7. Finance Lease Obligation 
2016

R
2015

R

Konica Minolta 321 212 13 605
Total finance lease obligation 321 212 13 605

Konica Minolta
Short-term portion of finance lease 109 036 13 605
Long-term finance lease obligation 212 176 - 
Minimum lease payments due 
• within one year 111 758 13 665 
• in second to fifth year inclusive 214 203 - 

325 961 13 665 
Less: future finance charges (4 749) (60)
Present value of minimum lease payments 321 212 13 605 

Present value of minimum lease payments due
• within one year 109 036 13 605 
• in second to fifth year inclusive 212 176 - 

321 212 13 605 

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:
Non-current liabilities 109 036 - 
Short-term portion of finance lease 212 176 13 605

321 212 13 605 

The Konica Minolta bears interest at an effective rate of 1% per annum and is repayable in 36 equal monthly 
instalments of  R9 313 (2015: R2 267). The equipment has a book value of R320 907 (2015: R34 788) at year end. 
There were no defaults or breaches of the contractual terms of the leases during the financial year. The carrying 
amounts of the leases were not materially different from the fair value of the equipment at year-end.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (cont.)
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8.  Short-term Provisions

Reconciliation of Short-term 
Provisions – 2016

OPENING  
BALANCE

R
ADDITIONS

R

UTILISED DURING 
THE YEAR 

R

REVERSED 
DURING THE YEAR

R
TOTAL

R

Provision for bonuses   3 539 941  3 589 279  (3 441 077)  (98 864) 3 589 279
 3 539 941 3 589 279 (3 441 077)   (98 864)  3 589 279 

Reconciliation of Short-term 
Provisions – 2015

Provision for bonuses  3 064 883  3 719 118 (3 244 060)  - 3 539 941 
 3 064 883 3 719 118 (3 244 060)   -  3 539 941 

The provision for bonuses relates to estimates in terms of the MGB’s performance bonus policy for performance of 
MGB employees for the 2015/16 financial year, payable subsequent to the year-end.

9. Trade and other Payables  
2016

R
2015

R

Trade payables 3 447 241 6 021 552
Pending transfer to government 8 012 993 7 311 884
Payroll accruals 1 169 542 1 076 506
Licence renewal billed in advance 1 253 100 1 204 600

13 882 876 15 614 542

The Mpumalanga Gambling Board collects revenue on behalf of the Department of Economic Development and Tourism.  
This revenue was paid over on a monthly basis.  At year-end an amount of R8 012 993 (2015: R7 311 884) was pending 
to be transferred to the department from the total collected amount of R90 071 815 (2015:R84 840 501) recorded on 
behalf of the Department of Economic Development and Tourism as follows: Gambling levies - R87 517 724 (2015:  
R82 688 857); Penalties -R237 241 (2015: R96 593); and Application and license fees - R2 316 850 (2015: R2 055 050).

10. Deferred Revenue
2016

R
2015

R

Roll-over: Capital building project  8 000 000  8 000 000 
8 000 000 8 000 000

Deferred revenue is made up of funds approved to be utilised for the building expansion project as at 31 March 2016. 
A number of administrative approvals as legislated were pending hence the delay of the project. 

11.  Transfer Revenue
2016

R
2015

R

Grant received 52 205 000 54 500 000
Conditional revenue - 49 334
Grant utilised 52 205  000 54 549 334
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12.  Surplus from Operations 

The surplus from operations is arrived at after taking into account the following items:

12.1 Expenditure
2016

R
2015

R

External audit fees 809 453 829 760 
Internal audit fees 647 687 529 000
Mandela Day initiative - 49 334
Depreciation and amortisation 435 731 349 672
Operating lease - office equipment 92 288 164 038
Board Members’ remuneration: non-executive (Refer to 12.2) 482 750 907 000
Audit and Risk Committee Members’ remuneration (Refer to 12.3) 87 750 196  000
Employee-related costs 34 756 071 33 274 268
     Management’s remuneration (Refer to 12.4) 9 896 447 9 402 592 
     Staff remuneration – other employees 24 859 624 23 871 676 

The variance reflected on expenditure was not major as it was less than 1% over on the budgeted projections and 
thus on target.

 12.2 Fees for services as Board Members
2016

R
2015

R

482 750 907 000
Fakude-Nkuna, PNZ  (Chairperson) 133 000 -
Mahlangu, DJL 18 000 157 000
Mthembu, SM 100 500 90 500
Skhosana, SD 92 750 90 500
Vilakazi, JS - 122 000
Sephiri, MCN 33 750 207 000
Thrush, H 3  500 125 000
Deiner, GA 68 750 -
Du Preez, PJ 32 500 115 000

12.3 Audit and Risk Committee members’ remuneration:
2016

R
2015

R

Fees for services as Audit and Risk Committee members 87 750 196 000
Deiner, GA 35 250 48 500
Meyer, B 15 250 38 000
Mthembu, SM 22 000 40 000
Sithole, JK 15 250 41 500
Thrush, H - 28 000

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (cont.)
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12.  Surplus from Operations (cont.)

12.4  Management’s Remuneration

2016 2015

SALARY
R

BONUS
R

TOTAL
R

TOTAL
R

Chief Executive Officer  1 857 349 217 183 2 074 532 1 970 891 
Chief Financial Officer  1 180 773 138 070 1 318 843 1 253 050 
Departmental Manager: Legal Services  1 125 612 131 620 1 257 232 1 194 524 
Departmental Manager: Communications   1 126 358 131 707 1 258 065 1 195 316 
Departmental Manager: Gambling Audit  1 183 998 138 445 1 322 443 1 256 449 
Departmental Manager: Gambling Control  1 108 416 129 609 1 238 025 1 176 280 
Departmental Manager: Investigations 
and Licensing

1 277 882 149 425 1 427 307 1 356 082 

8 860 388 1 036 059 9 896 447 9 402 592 

13. Employee-related Costs
2016

R
2015

R

Basic 34 660 436 33 175 123
Unemployment insurance fund 95 635      99 145

34 756 071 33 274 268

The remuneration of employees is determined by the Board, having considered the performance of individuals and 
market trends. All employees have lodged general declarations of interests by 31 March 2016. Vacancies during the 
year under review resulted in variances as reflected in the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.

14. Finance Income
2016

R
2015

R

Bank 1 120 066 909 661

The entity does not budget for interest received from financial institutions as it is not guaranteed and does not form 
part of its core business to raise other revenue, thus resulting in a variance on the budget performance statement.

15. Other Income
2016

R
2015

R

Confiscated monies  2 933  7 318

16. Finance Costs
2016

R
2015

R

Finance leases 338 1 332

The entity does not budget for interest paid on leased assets, thus resulting in a variance on the budget performance 
statement.
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17. Net Cash Generated from Operations
2016

R
2015

R

Surplus 1 283 552 1 790 751
Adjustments for: 
• Depreciation and amortisation 435 731 350 523
• Profit on sale of assets (84 968) (37 270)
• Movement in provisions 49 338 475 058
Changes in working capital: 
• Trade and other receivables (536 316) (641 587)
• Trade and other payables (1 731 669) 4 653 946

(583 332) 6 591 421

18.  Related Parties

Identity of Related Parties
Refer to note 11 relating to grants received and note 12 dealing with remuneration of MGB Board Members and key 
management personnel.

Material-related party transactions
2016

R
2015

R

Grant received from Department of Economic  Development and 
Tourism 52  205 000 54 549 334 

52 205 000 54 549 334

Amounts paid to related parties
2016

R
2015

R

Department of Finance, Economic Development and Tourism
• Levies 87 517 724 82 688 857
• Application, licence fees 2 316 850 2 055 050
• Penalties 237 241 96 593
Key management compensation 9 896 447 9 402 592

19. Capital Commitments

Capital commitments amounting to R888 910 comprise of services committed for quantity surveyors and engineers 
for the construction of the new MGB offices. 

20. Operating Lease Commitments

At 31 March 2016 the MGB had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases:

Operating leases which expire as follows:
2016

R
2015

R

Within one year - 92 288

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (cont.)
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21.  Risk Management

21.1 Financial Risk Factors

The MGB’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including cash flow interest rate risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The entity’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the entity’s financial performance.

Treasury regulations require the entity to facilitate a risk assessment to determine the material risks which the entity 
may be exposed to, and to evaluate the strategy for managing these risks. A risk assessment exercise is therefore 
conducted annually for the whole organisation with the help of the entity’s internal auditors. These risk factors form 
the basis of the internal audit annual coverage plan. The MGB’s risk management incorporates a financial policy that 
establishes guidelines, credit and liquidity risks, as well as establishes responsibility and authority for the management 
of these risks. Key controls applied to transactions in derivative financial instruments are to use only instruments where 
good market liquidity exists and to revalue all financial instruments regularly using current market rates.

21.1.1 Market Risk

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk - the entity’s interest rate risk arises from cash held at financial institutions. 
The cash deposit held at variable rates exposes the entity to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates 
expose the entity to fair value interest rate risk. During 2015 and 2016 the entity’s cash deposits at variable rates were 
denominated in the South African Rand.

Risk Mitigation

Risk management is carried out by suitably qualified personnel with varying levels of seniority, commensurate with the 
nature and scale of market risks under management.

The following controls allow for continuous monitoring by management:

• duties are segregated to ensure that employees involved in the origination, processing and valuation of transactions 
operate under separate reporting lines, minimising the opportunity for collusion;

• the legal services department approves documentation to ensure it complies with relevant laws and regulations; 
and

• the internal audit reviews compliance with policies, procedures and limits.

Segregation of duties is a significant feature of the MGB’s internal controls. Separation of persons executing transactions 
from those responsible for processing contracts, confirming transactions, settling transactions, approving the accounting 
methodology or entries and performing revaluations, minimises opportunities for fraud or embezzlement.

21.1.2 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss that results from customers or counterparties failing to meet their financial 
obligations, including obligations’ levies and taxes receivable on behalf of the Mpumalanga Government, 
unrecognised credit commitments and financial market activities. Financial assets which potentially subject the 
entity to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and receivables. The entity’s cash is placed with recognised 
financial institutions. The external risk rating of financial institutions used by the entity is as follows:
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21.  Risk Management (cont.)

Trade and other Receivables
Trade and other receivables are disclosed net of provision for impairment. Credit risk with respect to receivables is limited as 
the entity collects levies and taxes on behalf of the Mpumalanga Government (Department of Economic Development and 
Tourism). Due to the nature of the trade and other receivables, the entity does not require credit limit policies.  

21.1.3 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk anticipated should the entity not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions without unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to the entity’s reputation. The entity monitors its cash flow requirements through monthly transfers from government 
which include the servicing of financial obligations but exclude the potential impact of extreme circumstances that 
cannot reasonably be predicted.
The table below analyses the entity’s financial liability into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the Statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances within twelve months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

At 31 March 2016

CARRYING 
VALUE

R

TOTAL CASH 
FLOWS

R

LESS THAN 
ONE YEAR

R

BETWEEN 
ONE AND TWO  

YEARS
R

BETWEEN TWO 
AND FIVE YEARS

R

OVER FIVE 
YEARS

R

Finance leases 321 212 321 212 109 036 110 173 102 003 -
321 212 321 212 109 036 110 173 102 003 -

At 31 March 2015

CARRYING 
VALUE

R

TOTAL CASH 
FLOWS

R

LESS THAN 
ONE YEAR

R

BETWEEN 
ONE AND TWO  

YEARS
R

BETWEEN TWO 
AND FIVE YEARS

R

OVER FIVE 
YEARS

R

Finance leases 13 605 13 665 13 605 - - -
13 605 13 665 13 605 - - -

Refer to note 3.1 for encumbered assets.

22. Financial Instruments by Category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

22.1 Loans and Receivables

Assets as per Statement of Financial Position
2016

R
2015

R

Trade and other receivables 7 995 035 7 458 719 
Cash and cash equivalents 21 627 321 24 070 602 
Total 29 622 356 31 529 321 

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates fair value because of the short period to maturity.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (cont.)
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22. Financial Instruments by Category (cont.)

22.2 Other Finance Liabilities

Liabilities as per Statement of Financial Position
2016

R
2015

R

Trade and other payables 13 882 876 15 614 542

22.3 Sensitivity Analysis

22.3.1 Interest Rate Risk

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for derivatives and other 
financial liabilities at the statement of financial position date. A five basis point increase or decrease is used when 
reporting interest rate risk and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest 
rates.  The following table illustrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rates with all other 
variables held constant:

+ 0.05%  
MOVEMENT

- 0.05% 
MOVEMENT

Classes of Financial Instruments  
per Statement of Financial Position: 2016

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

R

SURPLUS /
(DEFICIT)

R

SURPLUS /
(DEFICIT)

R

Assets
Trade and other receivables 7 995 035 - -
Other financial assets - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 21 627 321 10 814 (10 814)

Liabilities
Interest-bearing debt (321 212) (161) 161
Trade and other payables    (13 882 876) - -
Deferred revenue   (8 000 000) - -
Other financial liabilities   (3 589 279) - - 

   3 828 989 10 653 (10 653)
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Materiality and Significance Framework

Regulation 28.3.1 of the Treasury Regulations requires that public entities develop and agree on a framework of 
acceptable levels of materiality and significance with the relevant Executive Authority, in consultation with the 
external auditors. In accordance with this, the framework has been considered from two main perspectives, namely 
quantitative and qualitative aspects. The policy framework, set out below is, as required, appropriately presented in 
terms of the PFMA and Treasury Regulations.

Quantitative Aspects

Taking into account the percentage guidelines received from the Auditor-General, we assessed the level of a material 
loss and significance as follows:

• Every amount in respect of criminal conduct;
• R5 000 and above in respect of irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure involving gross negligence;
• R88 749 and above being 0.17% of gross revenue in respect of any other irregular, fruitless and wasteful 

expenditure; and
• For the purposes of significance in terms of section 54 (2) of the PFMA, the level of significance was assessed 

at an amount of R1 164 295 more, being approximately 5% of non-current assets.

In determining the materiality levels, the following factors were also taken into account:

• The nature of the MGB’s business;
• The statutory requirements laid down for the MGB, with specific reference to the PFMA and Treasury 

Regulations; and
• The control and inherent risks associated with the MGB.

Qualitative Aspects

Materiality is not merely related to the size of the entity and the elements of its financial statements. On the one 
hand misstatements that are large, either individually or in the aggregate, may affect a ‘reasonable’ user’s judgement.  
However, on the other hand misstatements may also be material on qualitative grounds.

These qualitative grounds, which will be reviewed annually, include among others:

• Acquisition or disposal of a significant asset; and
• Commencement or cessation of a significant business activity.

Unuadited Information
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Nora Fakude-Nkuna (Chairperson), Gaylene Deiner (Member), Sam Mthembu (Member), Sandile Skhosana (Member), Gugulethu Nkambule, 
André Otto (Departmental Manager: Investigations and Licensing), Nomfundo Mnisi, George Madonsela, Reshma Suriakumar, Vusi Mtsweni 
(Departmental Manager: Gambling Control), Nomvuyiso Mdaka, Johannes Sibuyi,  Busisiwe Mjaji, Thabang Motloung,  Carla Bastos 
(Departmental Manager: Gambling Audit), Mike Juchniewicz, Nozibusiso Shabane, Veli Ndimandi, Marina Bezuidenhout (Departmental Manager: 
Legal Services), Paulina Seleoane, Nompumelelo Ndlovu, Lucas Maseko (Chief Financial Officer), Nolwazi Mahlalela,  Fortunate Themba. Absent 
– Vuyolethu Nhlengethwa. Cedrick Chiloane (Departmental Manager: Communications), Gift Gwebane, Judith Khoza, Gail Baxen.

1995 - 2016
Over 20 years of leading gambling regulation
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Thabang Makwetla (Member), Vulani Baloyi (Member),  Musi Skosana (Member),  Johannes Cronjé (Member),  Bheki Mlambo (Chief Executive 
Officer), Clinton Edmonds, Nompumelelo Nkala, Johan van Tonder, Kholofelo Mogale, Sikhumbuzo Thumbathi, Masilu Mangena, Gcina Mashaba, 
Francinah Makofane, Wikus Loots, Mxolisi Mtshali, Yondela Sihlobo,  Kiran Hansraj, Zandile Ndlovu, Howard Mahlobogoane, Reineth Mampane, 
Nqobile Nkosi, Amukelani Nkuna, Sonto Mngomezulu, Muriel Naudé, Bathobile Ntekati, Vincentia Zulu, Jaco Nel, Busisiwe Makofane, Joseph 
Madonsela.

1995 - 2016
Over 20 years of leading gambling regulation
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